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a  
year in 

numbers
What our first year has  

meant for customers in just  
12 months since Karbon  

was formed.

£21m 
in surplus

£790m 
in asset value

20,760
had their gas  

appliances serviced and 

71,585 
repairs have been completed  

in response to customer needs 

16
households have been  

able to buy their own home  
thanks to our shared  

ownership scheme, which  
helps customers get  

onto the property ladder

264
customers have found  
a place in supported  

housing, to help them live 
independently with support,  

rather than being in  
residential care

313
customers with mental  
health issues received  

one-to-one support

285 
compliments received 

439
complaints received with  

91% resolved at first  
point of contact 

130
more people are now working  

and earning a wage after  
accessing our employment  

and self-employment  
initiatives

£39m 
invested in new homes

91.6% 
customers satisfied with  

our repairs service

357 
new homes 
developed

262
new kitchens

193  
new bathrooms and

1,285  
new boilers were installed to 
improve customers’ homes 
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Report from the Group Chief Executive 

The turbulent environment in which Karbon Homes 
and all housing associations operate has continued 
over the past year punctuated tragically by the fire 
in June 2017 at Grenfell Tower which brought into 
stark review the responsibilities social landlords 
have for their tenants’ safety.

While continuing to ensure our homes are safe 
for our customers, Karbon Homes has remained 
committed to supporting customers whose personal 
circumstances have become more challenging.

One important and growing group in this regard 
are those customers who are transitioning from 
traditional benefits to Universal Credit as it is rolled 
out to an increasing number of people. This has the 
potential to increase rent arrears considerably and 
is being managed closely.

For Karbon Homes, the past year has been one of 
dynamic change with the coming together of Cestria 
Community Housing, Derwentside Homes and Isos 
Housing to form Karbon Homes. This has resulted 
in considerable structural change as we deliver 
the financially strong, more flexible and resilient 
organisation we committed to at amalgamation.

In December we also welcomed York Housing 
Association into the Group which further cemented the 
advantages that a larger organisation, but one which 
remains committed to its communities, can bring.

This past year saw us set out our strategy which 
establishes our ambitions around our mission of 
providing a strong foundation for life.

In the next five years we will build stronger 
foundations for even more people, by delivering 
on three strategic aims:

•  To provide as many good quality homes as we can

• To deliver excellent service to our customers 

•  To shape strong, sustainable places for our 
communities 

Meeting these aims requires us to invest in new 
technology and develop our colleagues to support 
our customers more effectively and remain 
committed to delivering value for money for all 
of our stakeholders.

We will continue to grow our business sustainably, 
underpinned by robust financial management, sound 
governance and effective risk management.

Paul Fiddaman 
Group Chief Executive  
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Operating and Financial Review

Overview of Business
On 3 April 2017, Isos Housing Limited amalgamated 
with Cestria Community Housing Limited and 
Derwentside Homes Limited to form a new company 
called Karbon Homes Limited (“Karbon Homes”). The 
principal activity of Karbon Homes is the provision 
of affordable homes for rent and shared ownership, 
together with housing support for vulnerable and 
elderly residents. Karbon Homes is registered with 
the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) as a registered 
provider of affordable housing.

Karbon Homes is the parent association of York 
Housing Association (YHA) who joined the Group on 1 
December 2017. YHA is also registered with the RSH. 

Both associations are charitable and are registered 
as societies under the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

Karbon Homes Limited engages in commercial 
activities through its subsidiary companies: 
Prince Bishops Homes (market rent and for-sale 
development), Karbon Solutions Limited (cost 
sharing group, a partnership with Castles and Coasts 
Housing Association and Byker Community Trust), 
Enterprise Durham Partnerships (social enterprise), 
Next Level Developments (residential development) 
and Karbon Developments Limited (development 
services). 

Karbon Homes is responsible for establishing the 
Group’s overall policies and strategies, for monitoring 
compliance with Group values and performance 
against Group targets, within a clearly defined 
framework of delegation and system of control. 

The Group’s head office is based in Newcastle upon 
Tyne and its homes are primarily in the North East 
of England.

More detail of the Group’s structure is provided 
in note 16 (see page 85).

Our mission and aims
Karbon Homes is about providing foundations,  
about the importance of a home for people to  
lead successful lives. Our mission is  
“Providing a strong foundation for life”.

We are determined to show that in everything  
we do, we have a sound business head and a  
strong social heart.

Our new Corporate Strategy 2018 to 2023 sets 
out our purpose, strategic aims and measures of 
success. The Corporate Strategy is supported by 
a number of strategic plans including a one year 
operational plan for 2018/19. The operational plan 
will form the basis of employee objectives set 
through our annual appraisal processes to ensure 
colleagues can contribute to our overall aims of:-

• providing as many good quality homes as we can;

•  providing an excellent customer experience to all 
current and future customers; 

• building successful and sustainable communities.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Financial Performance in the Period 
The detailed results for the year are set out in the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
on page 35 and the notes to the financial statements on pages 43 to 100. The following table provides a 
summary of the Group‘s results:

For the year ended 31 March 2018  
£’000s

2017  
Restated  

£’000s

Turnover 126,678 118,582

Operating surplus 32,980 35,477

Deficit on sale of property and other assets (21) (35)

Net interest payable, other finance costs and taxation (12,965) (12,672)

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation of housing properties 2,574 (1,049)

Surplus for the year after tax 22,568 21,721

Operating margin (%) 26% 30%

Turnover has increased year on year mainly as a result of York Housing Association joining the Group from 
December 2017 and an increase in development services provided to partner associations. Operating surplus 
has reduced, principally as a result of some non-recurring costs in 2018 relating to business integration, 
including a provision for redundancy costs as we re-model our staffing structure to ensure that it is fit for 
purpose. The unrealised gain on the revaluation of housing properties relates predominately to investment 
properties held in our Prince Bishops subsidiary. As a Housing Association, our surplus will be re-invested in 
the development of new homes and improvement to existing homes.

Statement of Financial Position 
The full statement of financial position is provided on page 37 and supporting details can be found in the 
notes to the financial statements on pages 43 to 100.

For the year ended 31 March 2018  
£’000s

2017 
Restated  

£’000s

Fixed assets 789,745 721,195

Net Current Assets 27,386 42,607

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 817,131 763,802

Creditors falling due after more than one year 291,341 293,127

Deferred Grants 253,935 225,569

Provision for Liabilities and Charges 24,935 18,984

Reserves 246,920 226,122

817,131 763,802

Debt per home (£’000s) 11.4 11.8
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

The increase in fixed assets reflects the addition 
of York Housing Association into the Group, our 
continued investment in our homes and the 
development of new homes. These have been 
financed primarily by the cash generated from our 
operating activities and debt funding. Debt per home 
has remained relatively stable, however this remains 
comparatively low compared to other associations 
and demonstrates that we have the capacity to 
undertake more borrowing to fulfil our strategic 
ambitions and invest more in good quality homes 
and services our customers expect.

Operating and Strategic Performance 
The Karbon Homes Corporate Strategy sets out 
the direction and strategy for the period 2018 to 
2023. The plan is underpinned by a robust evidence 
base that was developed in consultation with our 
customers, staff and partners. 

The Corporate Plan is framed around three strategic 
themes that need to be in place to create the right 
conditions for our vision to be delivered successfully.

Our strategic aims are: 

Homes:  
To provide as many good quality homes as we can 

We will progressively increase the number of new 
homes we build to meet the needs of 500 new 
households each year. Our homes will address the 
housing crisis as it presents itself within the local 
areas that we service. They will be built where we 
can strengthen our connection with communities 
and offer value for money with our services. We will 
also invest in maintaining and improving the homes 
we already provide so our properties remain good 
homes well into the future.

Customers:  
To provide an excellent customer experience to all 
current and future customers 

We will place our customers at the heart of 
everything we do so that we are able to deliver an 
excellent and then outstanding experience for our 
customers. This will see us develop and embed a 
new Karbon Customer Experience that understands 
and responds to the needs of our existing and future 
customers. It will see us invest in new technology, to 
improve our insight and help us better respond to the 
needs and wants of our customers.

Place:  
To build successful and sustainable communities 

We will shape the places where we build or manage 
homes and support the communities that live in 
them. This will see us working in partnership with 
others when they are better placed than us to meet 
our communities’ needs and investing wisely in 
things that make a tangible difference to the lives 
of our customers.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Enablers for this strategy
We will continue to strengthen our business and 
our reputation, and maintain the effective planning 
and management of our finances to deliver value 
for money. We will look for opportunities to share 
costs with other organisations, build upon existing 
initiatives and identify new ones. Our reputation for 
good governance and effective risk management 
remains central to our ambitions. Much can change 
over five years, so we will work with our customers, 
colleagues and partners to understand, prepare for 
an embrace that change.

Value for Money 
We recognise that if we want to deliver our strategic 
aims we have to find the additional financial capacity 
through a combination of managed cost savings and 
income generation. We need to provide more for less 
and use any spare capacity that we have available in 
our business plan.

Our aim in relation to value for money is to  
“Make the best use of our money, assets and 
people to deliver our objectives and maximise 
quality and value for our customers and the 
business”.

By ensuring that everything we do is as effective 
and efficient as possible any capacity within our 
resources can be reinvested into our communities, 
either in terms of new homes or improved services. 
Continued growth, sensible asset management, 
the use of benchmarking, sustainable procurement, 
a rounded review of current performance and 
stretching targets for the future remain key, but we 
also plan to release the untapped capacity within our 
business plan to provide added value.

In achieving VFM we understand the balance 
between cost, efficiency and effectiveness. Targets 
for key performance measures are agreed with the 
Board before the start of each financial year to aid 
continuous improvement. On a monthly basis we 
review our key performance measures and how 
they compare with others, reporting regularly to our 
performance committee and Board.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Value for Money (continued)
Our Value for Money Achievements 
Since the commencement of Karbon Homes, our key value for money achievements include: 

Action Benefit

Continued to deliver business integration, which 
is one part of a wider transformational review of 
office accommodation, ICT requirements, staff 
terms and conditions and other benefits. We are 
also reviewing our staffing structure to ensure that 
it is fit for purpose, enabling us to transform the 
business to deliver our strategic objectives. 

On track to deliver £14.5m of efficiency savings as 
a result of the amalgamation (including savings 
referred to below).

Completed the review of our senior management 
structure, with all appointments completed to the 
new Executive and Assistant Director roles.

Delivered efficiency savings of £522k per annum.

Completed the restructure of the managerial tier 
and full restructure of the back office functions such 
as ICT and Finance.

Delivered efficiency savings of £545k per annum.

Implemented single systems for core systems such 
as housing and finance, aligning processes and 
operations using lean principles and moved onto 
a single ICT infrastructure and communications 
across the business.

Delivered cashable efficiency savings of £210k per 
annum.

Moved all trade staff onto new mobile devices. Enabling more efficient ways of working.

Upgraded telephony to support the launch of a 
single telephone number for Customer Services.

Karbon has introduced a single Freephone number 
for customer contact to replace the multiple contact 
telephone numbers of the legacy organisations.
All Karbon customers are now able to call us from 
both landlines and mobiles free of charge
The introduction of the single contact number has 
enabled us to align our multiple contact centres to 
create a single team which over time will produce 
increased operational efficiency.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Value for Money (continued)

Action Benefit

Completed focused customer research, obtaining 
qualitative and quantitative insight into the 
business and the wants and expectations of 
customers.

Extensive customer research has been completed 
to gain an in-depth understanding of customer 
priorities and contact preferences.
This insight has been used to inform the 
development of the Karbon Customer Experience 
strategy and will also assist with the development 
of services and future operating model.

Developed a new asset management strategy. The Asset Management Strategy will ensure our 
future investment plans:

•  are based upon accurate data which is used to 
maintain investment in sustainable stock and 
ensure that we invest where and when needed; 

•  are delivered in a timely and efficient manner 
to maximise revenue and overall contribution to 
strategic outcomes from our assets; 

•  consider all options for poorly performing stock, 
providing full visibility on the investment decisions 
made and resource allocated; and 

•  maximise the opportunities for efficiencies in 
areas such as procurement.

We have also identified additional social value by:

•  supporting 90 customers into employment and supporting 350 customers with digital training skills;

•  working with 4,500 customers to provide benefit, money and debt advice;

•  unlocking £62,000 of social value from contracts and providing funding for placements, sponsorship and 
support in communities.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Value for Money (continued)
Benchmarking is important to any business. It provides key comparisons with similar organisations, enabling 
understanding of strengths and weaknesses and underpinning an evidence based approach to resource 
allocation, cost reduction and target setting. The Group’s operating costs and key financial indicators are 
benchmarked annually using a variety of sources, including data from the Regulator for Social Housing’s 
Global Accounts.

These are supplemented further through our operational Key Performance Indicators, which we monitor 
against our peer group using the sector benchmarking club HouseMark. One of our aims is to be a high 
performing organisation and we have set ourselves the very demanding objective of being in the upper 
quartile, and even upper decile, for a number of indicators which we consider are most important to 
ourselves as a Group but more importantly, to our key stakeholders.

During 2017/18, along with other housing providers, we took part in a pilot to develop a Sector Scorecard 
which will enable more consistency in the demonstration of VFM across the sector. The pilot has informed, 
along with feedback from consultation, a revised VFM Standard introduced from April 2018, along with a 
sector wide set of metrics. These metrics are included within our key performance indicators below and are 
denoted with a *.

Aim 1 – to provide as many good quality homes as we can

KPI Peer 
Group 

Median

2018 2017 Target 
2019

5 year 
target

Reinvestment % * - 6.9% 9.0% - -

New Social Housing Supply % * 1.8% 1.4% 1.4% 1.5% -

New Non-Social Housing Supply % * - 0.04% 0.32% 0.14% -

Gearing * 41% 33% 33% 37% 50%

ROCE * 4.2% 4.0% 4.6% 4.2% 7.0%

The reinvestment metric demonstrates investment in properties (existing stock as well as new supply) as a 
percentage of the value of total properties held. The percentage has reduced from 9.0% in 2017 to 6.9% in 
2018, mainly due to a reduction in investment in existing properties. The reduced level of investment is due 
to the completion of major modernisation programmes.

The new supply metrics set out the number of new social housing and non-social housing units that have 
been acquired or developed in the year as a proportion of social housing and non-social housing units owned 
at the year end. In 2018 the total number of units developed was 357 of which 11 were non-social housing. 
In 2017, a total of 415 units were developed all of which were for social housing. Our target for 2019 is to 
develop 405 units of which 370 will be social housing.

The gearing ratio assesses the degree of dependence on debt finance. Loans less cash  and investments 
have remained relatively stable year on year at 33% and compare favourably with our peer group. This 
demonstrates our capacity to take on more debt to fulfil our strategic ambitions.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Value for Money (continued)
Return on capital employed (ROCE) compares the operating surplus to total assets less current liabilities 
and is a common measure to assess the efficient investment of capital resources. In 2018 ROCE is 4.0% 
compared to 4.6% in 2017. The decline is mainly due to a reduced operating surplus from non-recurring 
costs in 2018 relating to business integration and transformation. In addition to this we have reduced the 
capitalisation of repairs costs as we have implemented a consistent approach following amalgamation. This 
has meant that more repairs are expensed as opposed to being capitalised on the balance sheet. 

Aim 2 – providing excellent customer service to all current and future customers

KPI Peer 
Group 

Median

2018 2017 Target 
2019

5 year 
target

Repairs appointments made and kept 97% 97% 97% 98% 99%

Percentage of emergency works 
completed on time

- 98% 99% 99% 99%

Average days to complete a repair 11 9 9 - -

Repairs appointments made and kept are stable at 97% year on year and are comparable to the performance of 
our peer group. Despite this we aim to improve on this indicator and are working towards a target of 99%.

Emergency works completed on time have reduced marginally from 99% in 2017 to 98% in 2018. The 
performance of our peer group is not available for this indicator.

The average number of days to complete a repair has remained stable year on year at nine days and compares 
favourably to our peer group at 11 days.

During 2018/19 we will be undertaking customer satisfaction surveys to identify the percentage of customers 
who are happy with the ease of service provided, whether we provided the service right first time and whether 
our customers have trust in Karbon. The results of this survey will be benchmarked through the Institute of 
Customer Service, an independent, professional body for Customer Service.

Aim 3 – building successful and sustainable communities

KPI Peer 
Group 

Median

2018 2017 Target 
2019

5 year 
target

Average re-let time 25 30 27 27 17

Void rent loss as percentage of  
annual rent debit

0.8 1.1 1.0 0.9 0.7

Average re-let time is the average time taken (in days) to re-let standard voids. It excludes voids that underwent 
major works, and is generally considered to be an indication of voids and lettings performance. In 2018 our 
performance has declined to an average of 30 days from 27 days in 2017. Some of this can be attributed to 
areas of  lower demand. Our target for 2019 is an average of 27 days.

Void rent lost is due to properties being vacant and this is shown as a percentage of annual rent due. Void rent 
loss has a direct impact on revenue and can also impact on the sustainability of communities when properties 
remain empty for considerable periods of time. Our performance has declined marginally between 2017 and 
2018 and is linked to the decline in re-let times. 

These indicators are an area of focus for 2018/19.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Value for Money (continued)
Enabler - growth and financial strength

KPI Peer 
Group 

Median

2018 2017 Target 
2019

5 year 
target

Operating margin overall * 34% 24% 28% 27% 35%

Operating margin social  
housing lettings *

36% 24% 29% 27% 37%

EBITDA MRI * 255% 285% 268% 258% 330%

Headline social housing cost per unit * £3,236 £3,068 £3,124 £2,626 £2,500

Rent collected as a percentage of  
annual rent debit

99.8 99.1 99.4 100 100

Current rent arrears net of housing 
benefit as a % of rent debit

3.0 2.1 2.2 1.9 1.9

Operating margin demonstrates the profitability of an organisation before costs such as net interest payable 
and taxation are taken into account. Operating margin has reduced, principally as a result of some non-recurring 
costs in 2018 (relating to business integration and transformation), including a provision for redundancy costs 
as we re-model our staffing structure to ensure that it is fit for purpose. In addition to this we have reduced the 
capitalisation of repairs costs as we have implemented a consistent approach following amalgamation. This has 
meant that more repairs are expensed as opposed to being capitalised on the balance sheet. 

Around 91% of our operating surplus relates to social housing lettings. The surplus/loss on other social housing 
activities relates to activities such as development services, support services, community investment and first 
tranche sales (shared ownership). Non-social housing activity relates to income from properties from market 
rent, properties for outright sale and services provided to others.

EBITDA MRI is an abbreviation for earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, major repairs 
included. It is a measure of liquidity and investment capacity. It also seeks to measure the level of surplus 
generated compared to interest payable. The metric also avoids any distortion from depreciation or grant 
amortisation. Our performance has improved between 2017 and 2018, mainly as a result of this metric adjusting 
for the impact of the change in capitalisation that occurred in 2018.

The headline social housing cost per unit includes management costs, routine maintenance costs, planned 
maintenance costs, capitalised repairs costs, charges for support services, development services, community/
neighbourhood services and any other social housing costs. These costs are divided by the number of units 
owned and/or managed. Our performance has improved between 2017 and 2018, mainly due to a reduction in 
planned maintenance costs as a result of the completion of major modernisation programmes.

Rent collected as a percentage of the annual rent debit has been slowly decreasing between 2017 and over 
the course of 2018. The number of customers in receipt of universal credit has doubled between 2017 and 
2018, reaching 974 at the end of the year. On average the level of arrears of these customers is higher than 
the average of other customers. We are working with our customers to keep them informed of any changes 
in relation to welfare reforms and we also provide access to support and money advice. We will continually 
monitor our arrears position and have an active management process. 

Current rent arrears net of housing benefit as a percentage of rent debit have reduced marginally between 2017 
and 2018 and compares favourably with our peer group.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Value for Money (continued)
Future plans
Linked to our Corporate Strategy, our value for 
money  objectives are to:

•  continue to stretch our target for new homes to 
reach top quartile in terms of the number of new 
homes developed as a percentage of our current 
stock;

•  apply a robust and rigorous approach to assessing 
where and when to invest, not just to keep homes 
up to a good standard but also to tackle wider 
problems that affect the quality of our homes; 

•  focus on driving real efficiencies as measured by 
improvements to operating surplus and reductions 
to total units costs;

•  understand our costs and how they relate to our 
performance by comparing ourselves with others. 
We will use the results of our performance to 
further improve the way we ensure efficiency;

• procure goods and services efficiently;

•  undertake lean service and process reviews to 
ensure that we constantly seek and achieve value 
for money in line with our customers’ priorities;

•  explore all avenues of improving value for money, 
including partnership working with others and 
alternative methods of service delivery. We will 
ensure that value for money is embedded in our 
culture and practice;

•  seek efficiencies by entering into a range of cost 
sharing arrangements with other organisations 
who wish to work with us or join our group 
structure;

•  progressively grow the commercial element of our 
development activity, while continuing to balance 
risk and reward;

•  use mobile technology to develop mobile working 
models that allow teams to access, process and 
update customer data in the field to minimise 
data handling, reduce travel time, speed up our 
response to customer needs and enable us to 
be more effective in keeping homes in good shape;

•  ensure that our systems and processes are as 
efficient as possible and invest in technology which 
will improve the ease of service for our customers, 
enabling efficiencies through automation.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Managing Risk 
Risk is inherent in the environment in which we work, particularly given the fast pace of change politically 
and economically. The operating environment for social housing providers, which is shaped by government 
policy and budget announcements remains challenging.

Our aim is to identify and then manage risks so that they can be understood and mitigated. This requires a 
pro-active approach and an effective organisation wide risk management framework.

Risks that may prevent Karbon Homes from achieving its objectives are considered and reviewed within a 
risk register by the Group Executive Team and the Board. The risks are recorded and assessed in terms of 
their impact and probability. Major risks, presenting the greatest threat to the organisation, are reported to 
the Board in all Board papers including actions to be taken to manage the risks and outcomes. The major 
risks to the business and successful achievement of strategic objectives going forward are considered below.

Risk Response

Failure to adhere to financial golden rules or to 
comply with loan agreements leads to a breach 
resulting in the organisation being vulnerable to 
the threat of repricing and being put into special 
measures.

We have put in place a resilience framework 
and carry out regular stress testing sessions on 
the business plan with the Board. We have also 
developed and regularly monitor early warning 
indicators.

Failure to provide an integrated approach to welfare 
reforms and the roll out of universal credit results in 
a negative impact on our income streams and costs.

We work with our customers to keep them 
informed of the changes and help them access 
support and benefits. We continually monitor 
arrears and have an active management process.

Existing pension schemes may become unaffordable 
due to benefits being paid out not being covered by 
new employees paying into the scheme. 

The Board are keeping this under review. 

Failure to meet compliance thresholds and to take 
an approach that maintains the health and safety of 
residents, staff and partners.

We carry out regular health and safety risk 
assessments and have health and safety policies 
and procedures. Colleagues are regularly trained 
and we employ health and safety specialists to 
provide advice and guidance.

Failure to secure and manage data in accordance 
with relevant regulations, particularly in light 
of the new General Data Protection Regulation 
which came into force in May 2018.

We handle large volumes of data some of which 
is confidential and sensitive. Our data protection 
policies and procedures and IT security, including 
cyber risk controls, are part of our management 
measures. All colleagues have recently received 
data protection training and we have recently 
introduced a new specialist data protection post.
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Managing Risk (continued)

Risk Response

Failure to comply with all statutory compliance 
and the Regulator of Social Housing’s Regulatory 
Framework.

We have a process of governance and compliance 
supported by external advice where necessary. An 
internal assurance process supported by internal 
audit provides the Board with assurance.

Failure to meet the housing needs of a broad range 
of customers, across a range of tenures, or to 
manage assets effectively.

We have controls in place to mitigate programme, 
funding, market and asset management risks. 
Controls include a governance framework, 
access to sufficient funding, commercial skills at 
Executive and Board level and an effective asset 
management strategy.

Failure to increase external profile or to manage 
criticism to minimise reputational damage.

We have a comprehensive communications plan 
in place informed by a stakeholder perceptions 
strategy. We also have a regular performance 
reporting to the Executive and Performance 
Committee which provides early warning signs 
of any diminution in service delivery.

Failure to develop and maintain ICT systems and 
digital media that are secure and meet customer 
expectations.

We have significantly invested in core IT 
infrastructure to ensure our systems are secure and 
resilient and that colleagues are equipped with the 
most appropriate tools to work effectively. We have 
undertaken quantitative and qualitative customer 
research to determine customer appetite for digital 
services. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Capital Structure, Treasury Policy 
and Activity
As at 31 March 2018, the Group had £360 million 
of committed debt funding of which £279 million is 
drawn. £81 million remained undrawn and available 
to fund the Group’s asset management and on-going 
new build development programmes.

Debt is secured by specific charges on housing land 
and buildings.  

The Group borrows, principally from banks and 
building societies, at both fixed and floating rates 
of interest. The Group Treasury Management Policy 
includes a target of maintaining a portfolio of 
borrowing split 70% fixed interest and 30% variable 
interest. The Board acknowledge that it is difficult 
to adhere to this ratio at all times.  The proportion 
of fixed rate borrowings at 31 March 2018 was 83% 
(2017: 79%).

The Group’s lending agreements require compliance 
with a number of financial and non-financial 
covenants. The Group’s position is monitored on 
an on-going basis and reported to the Board each 
quarter. The Group monitors cash flow forecasts 
closely to ensure that sufficient funds are available 
to meet liabilities when they fall due, whilst not 
incurring unnecessary finance costs, by only 
drawing on loan facilities when required. Recent 
reports confirmed that the Group was in compliance 
with its loan covenants at the balance sheet date 
and the Board expects to remain compliant in 
the foreseeable future.

Our strong financial performance ensures we have 
ample headroom on interest cover requirements. 
The gearing ratio, which is a measure of net debt 
(short and long term loans less cash) as a % of gross 
cost of housing properties, has remained constant 
at 27% and remains well within our most restrictive 
covenant of 45%. This is based on covenants agreed 
with our lenders and differs from the calculation in 
the VFM metric as required by the RSH as shown on 
page 15. 

The Group has cash balances of £33.94 million at 
31 March 2018 (2017: £16.20 million) and cash 
investments of £5.00 million (2017: £40.69 million). 
The current assets to current liabilities ratio stands 
at 1.88 (2017: 2.47).

Statement of Compliance
In preparing this Operating and Financial Review, the 
Board has followed the principles set out in Part 3 of 
the Statement of Recommended Practice 2014. 

The Board is pleased to present its report together 
with the audited financial statements of Karbon 
Homes Limited (the Association) and Karbon Group 
for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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Report of the Board

Principal Activity 
Details of the Group’s principal activities, its 
performance during the year and factors likely to 
affect its future developments are contained within 
the Operating and Financial Review, which precedes 
this report.

The Board of Karbon Homes Limited 
The present board members and executive directors 
in place during the financial year are set out on page 
5. They served throughout the year unless where 
indicated. 

During the year payments made to board members 
were £101k (2017: £155k), which were 0.08% (2017: 
0.13%) of the annual turnover. Payment of Group 
Chair and Group board members is calculated 
by taking into account the size of the Group and 
industry norms. The Board carries out an annual 
appraisal of its performance and an annual appraisal 
of individual board members. This year the Chair was 
appraised by the Vice Chair following feedback from 
both non-executive and executive directors.

Executive Directors
Whilst the Board is responsible for the Group’s 
overall policy and strategy, management is 
delegated to the Group Chief Executive. The 
executive directors are the senior management team 
and act as executives within the authority delegated 
by the Board. They meet formally under the 
chairmanship of the Group Chief Executive in order 
to consider all major management issues. 

This meeting is a key decision making forum for the 
management of the Group, reviewing all proposed 
policy changes and performance. The executive 
directors hold no interest in the share capital of 
any member of The Karbon Group. The executive 
directors are employed on service contracts with the 
same terms as other staff, except for their notice 
periods which are three months. The executive 
directors are members of the Social Housing 
Pension Scheme or Durham County Council Local 
Government Pension Scheme. They participate in the 
scheme on the same terms as all other eligible staff 
and the Group contributes to the scheme on behalf 
of its employees. The executive directors are entitled 
to other benefits such as the provision of a car 
or cash allowance and health care insurance. Details 
of their remuneration are included in note 10 to the 
audited financial statements.
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Report of the Board (continued)

Corporate Governance
The Board is committed to integrity and 
accountability in the stewardship of the Group’s 
affairs. The Group complies with the principal 
recommendations of the NHF ‘Excellence in 
Governance’ code for members (January 2015). 
We chose this code because it is tailored to the 
housing sector and it is a widely recognised 
example of best practice.

The Group regularly reviews its governance 
arrangements including its committee structures. 
It also undertakes an annual assessment of 
governance, including roles, responsibilities and 
accountabilities of the Board, Chair and Group Chief 
Executive and is satisfied that its arrangements 
are clear and effective. The Group Audit and Risk 
Committee has agreed a protocol with the external 
auditors, which sets out policies for determining 
what non-audit work can be undertaken by the 
external auditors and procedures for periodic review 
and selection of external auditors. The level of fees 
paid for this work is set out in note 5 to the financial 
statements. 

The revised RSH Governance and Viability standard 
was published in March 2015. Assurance was 
provided to the Board in July 2018 that the Group 
continues to meet the regulatory standards. 
Following a recent In-Depth Assessment carried out 
by the Regulator in May 2018, we maintained the 
highest ratings of financial viability and governance 
which is G1/V1.

Corporate Role of the Board
For the financial year 2017/18 the Board comprised 
up to twelve non-executive board members. The 
Board currently has 11 members including the Group 
Chief Executive. Terms of reference were issued to 
the Board. Board members acted in the interest of 
the Karbon Group and not on behalf of any other 
interest group. 

The principal obligations of the Board to the Group 
were to:

•  be committed to the mission, values and objectives 
of the Karbon Group;

•  develop strategy and implement the Karbon 
Group’s core policies;

•  uphold the Group’s constitution and NHF 
Code of Governance; and

•  represent the Karbon Group and enhance its profile 
externally.

The Board was drawn from a wide background 
and its members were selected to ensure that they 
bring relevant experience, skills and understanding 
to the discussions and decision making process of 
the Board.

Each subsidiary had a board of directors chosen 
for their specific area of expertise together 
with appointees to provide strong channels 
of communication with the Group Board.

The Group Board met formally seven times during 
the year. These were complimented by two strategy 
days that considered the Group’s Corporate Strategy. 
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Report of the Board (continued)

Corporate Role of the Board (continued)
The executive directors also attended board meetings.

Reporting to the Board were the Group Remuneration and Nominations Committee, the Group Audit and 
Risk Committee, the Group Development and Property Committee, the Group Performance Committee and 
Chairman’s Committee. The summary terms of reference for the committees follow and the membership 
drawn from the board membership of the Group’s Associations, is shown in the table below:

Group Committee Structure 

Group 
Remuneration 
and Nominations 
Committee

Group Audit and 
Risk Committee

Group 
Development 
Committee

Group Performance 
Committee

Chairman’s 
Committee

David Butler (C) Stephen 
Moorhouse (C)

Adrian Stanley (C) Kathryn Larkin 
Bramley (C)

Sebert Cox

Sebert Cox Kathryn Larkin 
Bramley

Anne Mulroy David Butler David Butler

Hilary Florek Maxine Mayhew Clive Rook (PBH) Anne Mulroy Stephen Moorhouse

Maxine Mayhew John Williams Mike Pattison 
(PBH)

Mike Leonard (YHA) Janet Whipps

John Williams Mike Newbury 
(YHA)

Robert Armstrong 
(PBH)

Hilary Florek Adrian Stanley

Barry Scarr Carol McTaggart 
(YHA)

Barry Scarr Kathryn Larkin 
Bramley

C - Chair   YHA - York Housing Association   PBH - Prince Bishops Homes

Group Remuneration and Nominations Committee
This is a non-executive committee. It has the responsibility for overseeing the Group’s remuneration policies 
and recommends the annual staff pay award to the Group Board. It also ensures the Group has a transparent 
approach to the appointment of board members and advises the Board on the remuneration and terms 
and conditions of the Group Chief Executive and other executive directors after taking external advice. The 
executive directors are not present at the meeting when their salaries are determined. The Committee met four 
times during the year.

Group Audit and Risk Committee
The Group Audit and Risk Committee is a non-executive committee, addressing internal and external audit 
issues and advising the Board on risk management policies and processes. It also considers the financial 
statements and recommends their approval by Board. The Committee met four times during the year.

Group Development Committee 
The Group Development Committee is a non-executive committee that advises the Group Board on the 
Group’s Development strategy, ensuring that the Group’s approach to capital investment is co-ordinated, 
challenging and dynamic. It also considers, approves and oversees new the Group’s development 
programme in accordance with the framework set out by the Group Board. The Committee met eight times 
during the year. 
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Report of the Board (continued)

Group Performance Committee 
The Group Performance Committee is a non-executive 
committee and is responsible for reviewing the 
financial and service performance of the Group. It 
is also responsible for making recommendations to 
the Group Board on material matters relating to how 
services are delivered to residents. The Committee met 
four times during the year.

Chairman’s Committee 
The Chairman’s Committee comprises the Group 
Chairman, the Chairs of York Housing Association and 
Prince Bishops Homes and the Chairs of Committees 
outlined above. The Committee assists with the 
effective communication and co-ordination of the 
Group’s various committees and provides advice on 
specific matters as requested by the Group Chair. The 
Committee met four times during the year.  

Internal Controls Assurance 
The Board is the ultimate governing body and is 
responsible for establishing and maintaining the 
whole system of internal control and for reviewing 
its effectiveness across the Group.

The system of internal control is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and to provide reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. 

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group is ongoing and 
has been in place throughout the period commencing 
1 April 2017 up to the date of approval of the report 
and financial statements.

Key elements of the control framework include:

•  Board approved terms of reference and delegated 
authorities for Group Audit and Risk Committee;

•  clearly defined management responsibilities for the 
identification, evaluation and control of significant 
risks;

•  robust strategic and business planning processes, 
with detailed financial budgets and forecasts;

•  formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff;

•  established authorisation and appraisal procedures 
for all significant new initiatives and commitments;

•  a sophisticated approach to treasury management;

•  regular reporting to the Board or committees on 
key business objectives, targets and outcomes;

•  Board approved whistle blowing and anti-theft, 
corruption, bribery and fraud policies;

•  a standing report to the Group Audit and Risk 
Committee on the progress of action plans 
developed to remedy any weaknesses and to 
implement recommendations from both the 
internal and external auditors; and 

•  the fraud register reviewed annually at the Group 
Audit and Risk Committee meeting and all new 
entries reported separately to the Board.

The Board and its committees obtain external 
specialist advice from time to time as necessary.

The Housing Regulator requires incidences of fraud 
and loss to be reported on an annual basis. There 
were no cases of fraud within the Group and one 
incident of attempted fraud from which there was  
no financial loss. These will appear on the annual 
fraud return to the HCA. One incident since reported  
to the HCA.
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Internal Controls Assurance (continued)
The Board cannot delegate ultimate responsibility 
for the system of internal control, but it can, and 
has, delegated authority to the Group Audit and Risk 
Committee to regularly review the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control. The Board receives 
quarterly reports from the Group Audit and Risk 
Committee together with minutes of Group Audit 
and Risk Committee meetings.

The Group Audit and Risk Committee has received 
the Group Chief Executive’s annual review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control for 
the Association and its subsidiaries, and the annual 
report of the internal auditors, and has reported its 
findings to the Board.

Statement of the Responsibilities of the 
Board for the Report and Financial 
Statements
The Board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations.

The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 requires the Board to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under the 
legislation, the directors have elected to prepare 
the financial statements in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
and applicable laws). Under The Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 the directors 
must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs and surplus or deficit of the 
Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements the Board is 
required to: 

•  select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently;

•  make judgements and accounting estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent;

•  state whether applicable United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice 2014, have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; 

•  prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis unless it is appropriate to presume 
that the Group will not continue in business.

The Board is responsible for keeping and maintaining 
proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Group and Association and enable it to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2015. It is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Association and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Association’s website. Legislation in 
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Our People
The strength of Karbon lies in the quality of all of 
its employees. In particular, our ability to meet our 
objectives and commitments to our customers 
in an efficient and effective manner depends on 
their contribution.

Karbon shares information on its objectives, progress 
and activities through regular briefings and office 
and departmental meetings involving the senior 
management team and staff.

We are determined to be the employer of choice, 
attracting and developing the best talent across the 
business. We invest in our 750 employees, which 
has been recognised by the Investors in People 
Gold standard. 

Karbon is also committed to achieving ServiceMark 
accreditation with the Institute of Customer Service. 
We will be reapplying for this accreditation for 
Karbon Homes in 2019 to ensure we have had 
sufficient opportunity to develop and implement 
the Karbon Customer Experience.

Last year all of our Managers and Team Leaders 
completed a Manager as Coach Training Module 
and we are undertaking an evaluation project to 
understand the impact of this investment and 
provide an evidence base to inform how we continue 
to develop the skills of our management community. 
We are also investing in leadership development, 
which will begin this year at Executive and Assistant 
Director level and cascade through the business. 

We have developed and launched a new reward and 
benefits package following extensive consultation 
and staff engagement and been shortlisted for an 
‘Excellent in Organisation Development Practice’ 
award by the CIPD in recognition of the excellent 
work we have done in this area, in tandem with 
shaping the new Karbon structure and proactively 
supporting our people through change.

We have also invested in new uniforms for customer 
facing colleagues, and continue to work on 
improving our health and safety provision.

Our plans for 2018-19 are linked to the long term 
future of the organisation and include developing 
employee recognition schemes, and a new Karbon 
Staff Forum.

Equality and Diversity
The Group is a values-led organisation and diversity 
is at the heart of what the Group is about. As an 
organisation we believe this makes the Group 
stronger because of the wide range of individuals 
working for us and receiving our services. We 
translate this commitment to diversity into policy in 
many different ways, for example in our recruitment 
practices and the types of services we develop 
and offer. More recently, the sector is looking at 
Equality and Diversity in a much broader way and we 
acknowledge that there are still areas of development 
where we can continue to strive to improve. 

Health and Safety
The Board is aware of its responsibilities on all 
matters relating to health and safety. The Group 
has prepared detailed health and safety policies 
and provides staff training and education on health 
and safety matters. This is a key area for the Board 
where we have strengthened our policies, processes 
and reporting. The Board review compliance with 
Health and Safety at all meetings and receive an 
annual compliance report
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Resident Involvement 
A new resident involvement framework has 
been developed for Karbon, providing a range of 
opportunities for residents to get involved at an 
individual as well as a collective level. It sets out a 
fresh approach that provides a range of engagement 
options, including a greater use of technology. Over 
the past few months we have actively consulted 
with our residents who have been involved with 
the legacy organisations to understand their 
aspirations for the future direction of our involvement 
framework. Our vision is to put residents at the 
heart of everything we do, to maximise involvement 
opportunities and to use their feedback to help 
shape and improve services. The new framework 
includes a strategic group which forms part of the 
governance arrangements of the organisation as 
well as opportunities to get involved on a more 
local level. We will also ensure that we use every 
opportunity through face to face contact to engage 
with our residents as well as using the data and 
insight we gain from satisfaction surveys and 
complaints and compliments to inform what we do. 

Review of Business and Future 
Developments
The review of business and future developments 
is discussed in the Group Chair’s and the Group 
Chief Executive’s statement and the operating and 
financial review on pages 9 to 21.

Donations 
The Group made no political donations during the 
year (2017: £nil).

Policy on Payment of Creditors
The Group’s policy is to pay purchase invoices within 
30 days of receipt, or earlier if agreed with the 
supplier. 

Financial Instruments
The Group uses various financial instruments, 
including loans and cash, and other items such as 
rental arrears and trade creditors that arise directly 
from its operations. The main purpose of these 
financial instruments is to raise finance for the 
Group’s operations.

The existence of these financial instruments exposes 
the Group to a number of financial risks. The main 
risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments 
are considered by the board to be the interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk and credit rate risk. The Board 
review and agree policies for managing each of 
these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s finances its operations through a 
mixture of retained surpluses and bank borrowings. 
The Group’s exposure to interest fluctuations on its 
borrowings is managed by the use of both fixed and 
variable rate facilities.

Liquidity risk
The Group seeks to manage financial risk by 
ensuring sufficient liquidity is available to meet 
foreseeable needs and invest cash assets safely 
and profitably. In addition to drawn borrowings and 
cash balances of £33.9m, the Group has £80.5m of 
undrawn committed facilities.
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Financial Instruments (continued)
Credit risk
The Group’s principal credit risk relates to tenant 
arrears. This risk is managed by providing support 
to eligible tenants with their application for Housing 
Benefit and to closely monitor the arrears of self-
funding tenants. The proposed welfare reforms and 
resulting changes to the benefits system has been 
identified as a key risk to the Group and we are 
continuously engaging with our tenants to ensure 
that the impact of the reforms are minimised and 
rental flows are maintained. 

Post Balance Sheet Events
When approving the financial statements the 
Board is required to make an assessment of the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
In doing this the Board is required to consider all 
available information about the future, which is at 
least but not limited to, twelve months from the 
date when the financial statements are approved 
and signed. In May 2018, Karbon Homes Limited 
acquired around 1,300 properties from the Guinness 
Partnership. This acquisition was subject to 
competitive tender and due diligence. We consider 
that there have been no other events since the year 
end that have had a significant effect on the Group’s 
or Association’s financial position.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the Karbon Homes Board 
has a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future, being a period 
of twelve months after the date on which the report 
and financial statements are signed. For this reason, 
it continues to adopt the going concern basis in the 
financial statements.

Future Developments
A key influence on the timing of borrowings is the 
rate at which development activity takes place. The 
Karbon Board has approved plans to spend £112.6 
million during the next financial year developing and 
acquiring additional homes and £42.2 million will 
be spent on planned and responsive maintenance.  
£77.7 million of this investment will be funded 
through new borrowings, £11.3 million through social 
housing and other grant, and the balance from 
existing cash and operational cash flows.  

The Group’s entities have bilateral or ring-fenced 
loan facilities in place with their respective funders.  
As at 31 March 2018 the Group had total loan 
facilities of £360 million, of which £81 million 
remained undrawn, and a cash balance including 
liquid investments of £39 million.

The Group has sufficient funds to meet its 
requirements for the next 12 months from the 
date of this report.

External Auditors
Beever and Struthers were re-appointed as the 
Group’s external auditor following a competitive 
process during the year. Beever and Struthers 
are willing to remain in office and a resolution to  
re-appoint them as auditors to the Group was 
approved by the Board on 17 September 2018. 

Approval
The Report of the Board was approved by the Board 
on 17 September 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

R Fryer 
Company Secretary
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Karbon Homes Limited

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Karbon 
Homes Limited (“the Association”) and its subsidiary 
(“the Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2018 
which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Statement 
of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 
and the Association’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 
and of their surplus for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Cooperative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) 
Regulations 1969, the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report to you in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:

•  the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

•  the Board have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s 
or Association’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of 
at least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Other information
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The 
Board is responsible for the other information. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, 
we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or 
a material misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by 
the Cooperative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit:

•  the information given in the Board’s report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which Cooperative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

•  a satisfactory system of control over transactions 
has not been maintained; or

•  the Association has not kept proper accounting 
records; or

•  the financial statements are not in agreement with 
the books of account; or

•  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of the Board
As explained more fully in the Statement of Board’s 
Responsibilities set out on page 27, the Board are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view, and for such internal control 
as the Board determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
Association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Board either intend 
to liquidate the Group or Association or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Karbon Homes Limited (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the  
audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Financial Reporting Council’s web-site at  
http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our Report
This report is made solely to the Association’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with section 
87(2) of the Cooperative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Association’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Association and the 
Association’s members as a body for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Beever and Struthers, Statutory Auditor 
St. George’s House 
215/219 Chester Road 
Manchester 
M15 4JE

Date:

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2018 Note 2018 
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

Turnover 3 126,678 118,582 

Cost of Sales 3 (10,833) (5,950)

Operating expenditure 3 (87,358) (78,948)

Negative Goodwill 3/31 1,693 - 

Surplus on sale of property, plant and equipment – housing 
properties

6 2,800 1,793 

Operating surplus 3 32,980 35,477 

(Deficit) on sale of property, plant and equipment – other fixed 
assets

(21) (35)

Interest receivable and other income 7 112 44 

Interest payable and similar charges 8 (12,526) (12,274)

Other finance costs  (525) (428)

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation of housing properties 15 2,574 (1,049)

Surplus before taxation 22,594 21,735 

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 11 (26) (14)

Surplus for the financial year 32 22,568 21,721 

Actuarial (loss) in respect of pension schemes 9 (1,770) (7,790)

Total comprehensive income for the year 20,798 13,931

The consolidated results relate to continuing and acquired activities.

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on  
17 September 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Sebert Cox David Butler Richard Fryer

Chair Vice Chair Company Secretary
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Association Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2018 Note 2018 
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

Turnover 3 117,240 116,115 

Cost of sales 3 (6,556) (5,617)

Operating expenditure 3 (85,170) (78,846)

Surplus on sale of property, plant and equipment – housing 
properties

6 2,428 1,737 

Operating surplus 3 27,942 33,389 

(Deficit) on sale of property, plant and equipment – other fixed 
assets

(21) (12)

Interest receivable and other income 7 2,205 1,751 

Interest payable and similar charges 8 (12,021) (12,150)

Other finance costs  (525) (428)

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation of housing properties 15 1,163 (1,537)

Surplus before taxation 18,743 21,013 

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 11 (37) (5)

Surplus for the financial year 32 18,706 21,008 

Actuarial loss in respect of pension schemes 9 (1,770) (7,790)

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,936 13,218

The Association’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on  
17 September 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Sebert Cox David Butler Richard Fryer

Chair Vice Chair Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 March 2018 Note 2018 
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

Fixed Assets
Intangible fixed assets
Negative Goodwill 12  -  (64)

Tangible fixed assets
Housing properties at cost less depreciation 13 725,798  666,901 
Other tangible fixed assets 14  13,382  12,090 
Investment Properties 15  50,289  41,977 
HomeBuy loans receivable 17  276  291 

 789,745  721,195 
Current assets
Properties for sale 18  3,171  2,465 
Deferred asset 19  815  815 
Consumable stock  490  422 
Debtors due within one year 20  15,324  11,080 
Debtors due after one year 21  -  - 
Investments 22  5,000  40,689 
Cash and cash equivalents  33,935  16,206 

 58,735  71,677 
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 23  (31,349)  (29,070)

Net current assets  27,386  42,607 
Total assets less current liabilities  817,131  763,802 
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 24  291,341  293,127 

Deferred grants 27  253,935  225,569 

Provision for liabilities and charges 29  2,445  114 

Pension liability   22,490  18,870 

 570,211  537,680 

Total net assets  246,920  226,122 

Capital and reserves
Non-equity share capital 30  -  - 
Revenue reserve 32  246,920  226,122 

Consolidated funds 32  246,920  226,122 

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on  
17 September 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Sebert Cox David Butler Richard Fryer

Chair Vice Chair Company Secretary
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Association Statement of Financial Position

At 31 March 2018 Note 2018 
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

Fixed Assets
Intangible fixed assets
Negative Goodwill 12  -  - 

Tangible fixed assets
Housing properties at cost less depreciation 13  662,089  639,030 
Other tangible fixed assets 14  11,757  11,482 
Investment Properties 15  17,468  12,847 
HomeBuy loans receivable 17  276  291 

 691,590  663,650 
Current assets
Properties for sale 18  1,871  1,847 
Deferred asset 18  815  815 
Consumable stock  480  396 
Debtors due within one year 20  14,258  10,925 
Debtors due after one year 21  20,859  18,078 
Investments 22  997  40,689 
Cash and cash equivalents  29,366  14,877 

 68,646  87,627 
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 23  (25,384)  (27,009)

Net current assets  43,262  60,618 
Total assets less current liabilities 734,852  724,268 
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 24  263,916  285,150 

Deferred grants 27  233,715  225,569 

Provision for liabilities and charges 29  2,320  114 

Pension liability 9  22,490  18,870 

 522,441  529,703 
Total net assets  212,411  194,565 

Capital and reserves
Non-equity share capital 30  -  - 
Revenue reserve 32 212,411  194,565 

Consolidated funds 32  212,411  194,565 

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Karbon Homes Board on  
17 September 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Sebert Cox David Butler Richard Fryer

Chair Vice Chair Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Reserves

Group 
Total Funds 

£ ’000

Association 
Total Funds 

£ ’000

Balance at 1 April 2016 as previously stated  133,478  73,004 

Cestria Community Housing Association reserves brought forward  -  30,514 

Derwentside Homes reserves brought forward  77,819  77,819 

Prince Bishops Homes reserves brought forward  1,092  - 

Enterprise Durham Partnership reserves brought forward  (198)  - 

Balance at 1 April 2016 as restated  212,191  181,337 

Gift Aid  -  10 

Surplus from Statement of Comprehensive Income  21,721  21,008 

Actuarial (loss) on pension scheme  (13,080)  (13,080)

Remeasurement gain recognised on defined benefit pension schemes  5,290  5,290 

Balance at 31 March 2017 restated  226,122  194,565 

Gift Aid  -  910 

Surplus from Statement of Comprehensive Income  22,568 18,706 

Actuarial (loss) on pension scheme  (1,770)  (1,770)

Remeasurement gain recognised on defined benefit pension schemes  -  - 

Balance at 31 March 2018  246,920 212,411

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Net cash generated from operating activities (See Note 1)  42,266  54,446 

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase and construction of housing properties  (40,658)  (45,757)

Works to existing properties capitalised  (9,194)  (14,354)

Purchase of other fixed assets  (1,366)  (1,132)

Sale of housing properties  5,951  4,510 

Payment to Northumberland County Council re sales of properties  (180)  (186)

Sale of other fixed assets  17  6,349 

Social housing grant received  8,879  5,905 

Interest received  112  84 

 (36,439)  (44,581)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid  (12,491)  (12,615)

New secured loans  1,934  42,377 

Repayment of Homebuy Loan  15  29 

Repayments of borrowings  (17,962)  (11,955)

Acquisition of subsidiary - cash and investments  4,717  - 

Money market & investment movements  35,689  (39,570)

 11,902  (21,734)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  17,729  (11,869)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  16,206  28,075 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  33,935  16,206 

Within the cash flow for investing activities the analysis of fixed assets has changed without impact on the 
overall result.

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Note 1 2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Cash Flow from operating activities

Surplus for the year 22,568  21,721 

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Loss on sale of fixed assets  -  103 

Revaluation (gain)/loss in year  (2,574)  1,049 

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiary  (1,757)  64 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets  19,957  18,959 

Release of deferred grant income  (4,360)  (4,124)

Impairment  (91)  738 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  2,186  118 

Carrying amount of tangible fixed asset disposals  2,986  2,415 

Pension operating charge  4,116  1,597 

Pension contributions paid  (3,142)  (950)

Taxation  (8)  (10)

Decrease/(increase) in stock  (63)  (174)

Decrease/(increase) in properties for sale  (284)  2,266 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other debtors  (2,192)  (2,798)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other creditors  (2,395)  5,421 

 12,379  24,674 

Adjustments for investing or financing activities:   

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed asset disposals  (5,765)  (4,404)

Grants utilised in the year  644  51 

Interest payable  12,526  12,474 

Interest received  (112)  (84)

 7,293  8,037 

Taxation

Corporation tax paid  26  14 

Net cash generated from operating activities 42,266 54,446

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1.  Legal Status
The Association is a Registered Society in England 
under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 and is registered as a housing 
provider with the Regulator for Social Housing 
(previously the Homes and Communities Agency). 
The registered office is Number Five, Gosforth Park 
Avenue, Gosforth Business Park, Newcastle upon 
Tyne, NE12 8EG.

2.  Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The financial statements of the Group and 
Association are prepared in accordance with the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, the 
Statement of Recommended Practice 2014 and 
comply with the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. 

 The accounts are prepared on the historical cost 
basis of accounting and are presented in sterling 
£000s for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared 
in compliance with FRS102. The Group meets the 
definition of a Public Benefit Entity.

Going Concern

The Group’s business activities, its current financial 
position and factors likely to affect its future 
development are set out within the Operating and 
Financial Review. The Group has in place long-term 
debt facilities which provide adequate resources to 
finance committed reinvestment and development 
programmes, along with the Group’s day to day 
operations. The Group also has a long-term business 
plan which shows that it is able to service these debt 
facilities whilst continuing to comply with its lenders’ 
covenants.

Basis of Consolidation

The Group accounts consolidate the accounts of 
the Association and its subsidiaries at 31 March 
each year.

Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities as at the date of the Statement 
of Financial Position and the amounts reported for 
revenues and expenses during the year. However, the 
nature of estimation means that actual outcomes 
could differ from those estimates. The following 
judgements (apart from those involving estimates) 
have had the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

a  Development expenditure:- The Group capitalises 
development expenditure in accordance with the 
accounting policy described on page 45. Initial 
capitalisation of costs is based on management’s 
judgement that development scheme is confirmed, 
usually when Board approval has taken place. In 
determining whether a project is likely to cease, 
management monitors the development and 
considers if changes have occurred that result in 
impairment. 

b  Categorisation of housing properties:- The Group 
has undertaken a detailed review of the intended 
use of all housing properties. In determining the 
intended use, the Group has considered if the asset 
is held for social benefit or to earn commercial 
rentals. 

c  Impairment:- Reviews for impairment of housing 
properties are carried out when a trigger has 
occurred and any impairment loss in a cash 
generating unit is recognised by a charge to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Impairment 
is recognised where the carrying value of a 
cash generating unit exceeds the higher of its 
net realisable value or its value in use. A cash 
generating unit is normally a group of properties at 
scheme level whose cash income can be separately 
identified.
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Other key sources of estimation and assumptions:

a  Tangible fixed assets:- Other than investment 
properties, tangible fixed assets are depreciated 
over their useful lives taking into account residual 
values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the 
assets and residual values are assessed annually 
and may vary depending on a number of factors. 
In re-assessing asset lives, factors such as product 
life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken 
into account. Residual value assessments consider 
issues such as future market conditions, the 
remaining life of the asset and projected disposal 
values.

b  Amortisation of gap funding:- Gap funding 
is amortised over the useful economic life 
of the components.

c  Amortisation of social housing and other 
government grants:- Social housing and other 
government grants are amortised over the useful 
economic life of the structure of the housing 
properties.

Turnover and Revenue Recognition

Turnover comprises rental income receivable in 
the year, amortised capital grant, revenue grants 
receivable in the year, income from shared ownership 
first tranche sales, other services included at the 
invoiced value (excluding VAT where recoverable) of 
goods and services supplied in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical 
completion or otherwise become available for 
letting. Income from first tranche sales and sales of 
properties built for sale is recognised at the point 
of legal completion of the sale. Revenue grants 
are receivable when the conditions for receipt of 
agreed grant funding have been met. Charges for 
support services funded under Supporting People 
are recognised as they fall due under the contractual 
arrangements with Administering Authorities.

Sales of properties developed for outright sale are 
included in Turnover and Cost of Sales.

Service Charges

The Group operates both fixed and variable 
service charges on a scheme by scheme basis in 
full consultation with residents. Where variable 
service charges are used the charges will include an 
allowance for the surplus or deficit from prior years, 
with the surplus being returned to residents by a 
reduced charge and a deficit being recovered by a 
higher charge. Until these are returned or recovered 
they are held in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Where periodic expenditure is required a provision 
may be built up over the years, in consultation with 
the residents. Until these costs are incurred this 
liability is held in the Statement of Financial Position.

Taxation

The parent company became an exempt charity on 
3 April 2017 and from this date any surpluses or 
deficits arising from its charitable activities will be 
exempt from corporation tax. Any activity relating to 
non-charitable activity will be subject to corporation 
tax.

Deferred Taxation

The payment of taxation is deferred or accelerated 
because of timing differences between the treatment 
of certain items for accounting and taxation 
purposes. Except as noted below, full provision for 
deferred taxation is made under the incremental 
liability method on all timing differences that have 
arisen, but not reversed by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is not provided for gains on the sale 
of non-monetary assets, if the taxable gain will 
probably be rolled over.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the periods when the timing 
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax 
rates and law enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not discounted.

Value Added Tax

The Group charges value added tax (VAT) on some 
of its income and is able to recover part of the VAT 
it incurs on expenditure. The financial statements 
include VAT to the extent that it is suffered by the 
Group and not recoverable from HM Revenue 
and Customs. The Group has two VAT Shelter 
Agreements in place; as a result, the VAT incurred 
on the social housing properties stock improvement 
programme is recoverable. The balance of VAT 
payable or recoverable at the year- end is included 
as a current liability or asset.
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Loan Interest Costs

Interest payable is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year. No interest is 
capitalised.

Pensions

The Group participates in three funded multi-
employer defined benefit schemes, the 
Social Housing Pension Scheme (‘SHPS’), the 
Northumberland County Council Pension Fund 
(‘NCCPF’) and the Durham County Council Pension 
Scheme (‘DCCPF’).

For the SHPS, it has not been possible to identify the 
share of underlying assets and liabilities belonging 
to individual participating employers. The income 
and expenditure charge represents the employer 
contributions payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period.

For the NCCPF and DCCPF, the operating costs 
of providing retirement benefits to participating 
employees are recognised in the accounting periods 
in which the benefits are earned. The related finance 
costs, expected return on assets and any other 
changes in fair value of the assets and liabilities, 
are recognised in the accounting period in which 
they arise. The operating costs, finance costs and 
expected return on assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income along with any 
other changes in fair value of assets and liabilities.

The Group also participates in a SHPS defined 
contribution scheme; contributions payable under 
an agreement with SHPS to fund past deficits are 
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 
statements calculated by the repayments known 
and discounted to the net present value at the year 
ended using a market rate discount factor.

The unwinding of discount is recognised as a finance 
cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the period incurred.

Supporting People

Charges for support services funded under 
Supporting People are recognised as they fall 
due under the contractual arrangements with 
Administering Authorities.

Business Combinations

A combination in which the controlling parties of 
the combining entities have come together in a 
partnership for the mutual sharing of risks and 
benefits and in which no party to the combination 
in substance obtained control over any other, or has 
been otherwise seen to be dominant, is accounted 
for as a merger.

Acquisitions of other entities in the social housing 
sector that are in substance a gift are treated as 
non-reciprocal transfers where the substance of the 
transaction is gifting control of one entity to another. 
These are also known as non-exchange transactions. 
In this case the fair value of the gifted assets and 
liabilities are recognised as a gain or loss in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the year of the transaction.

Housing Properties

Housing properties are principally properties 
available for rent and are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Cost includes the cost of 
acquiring land and buildings, development costs and 
expenditure incurred in respect of improvements. 

Works to existing properties which replace a 
component that has been treated separately for 
depreciation purposes, along with those works 
that result in an increase in net rental income over 
the lives of the properties, thereby enhancing the 
economic benefits of the assets, are capitalised 
as improvements. Such capital expenditure is 
subsequently subject to the application of the 
depreciation policy whereby the accumulated cost 
(less any residual values) of the capital asset is 
reduced over the useful life of the asset.

All other expenditure incurred in respect of general 
repairs to the housing stock is charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in 
which it is incurred.

Shared ownership properties are split proportionally 
between current and fixed assets based on the 
element relating to expected first tranche sales. The 
first tranche proportion is classed as a current asset 
and related sales proceeds included in turnover 
and the remaining element is classed as fixed asset 
and included in housing properties at cost, less any 
provisions needed for depreciation or impairment.

Housing properties under construction are stated at 
cost and are not depreciated. These are reclassified 
as housing properties on practical completion of 
construction.
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Social Housing Grants

Social Housing Grant (SHG) is receivable from the 
HCA and is utilised to reduce the capital costs of 
housing properties, including land costs. Where 
developments have been financed wholly or partly by 
social housing and other grants, the amount of the 
grant received has been included as deferred income 
and recognised in turnover over the estimated useful 
life of the associated asset structure (not land), 
under the accruals model. SHG received for items of 
cost written off in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income is included as part of turnover.

Social Housing Grants (continued)

SHG must be recycled by the Group under certain 
conditions, if a property is sold, 
or if another relevant event takes place. In these 
cases SHG is credited to Recycled Capital Grant Fund 
in creditors in the Statement of Financial Position and 
can be used for projects approved by the Homes and 
Communities Agency. 

However, SHG may have to be repaid if certain 
conditions are not met. If grant is not required to 
be recycled or repaid, any unamortised grant is 
recognised as turnover. In certain circumstances, 
SHG may be repayable, and, in that event, is a 
subordinated unsecured repayable debt.

Recycling of Capital Grant

Where Social Housing Grant is recycled, as described 
above, the SHG is credited to a fund which appears 
as a creditor until used to fund the acquisition of 
new properties. Where recycled grant is known to be 
repayable it is shown as a creditor within one year.

Donated Land

Land donated by local authorities and others is 
added to cost at the market value of the land at the 
time of the donation.

Investment Properties

Housing properties held as investments are stated 
at valuation on the Statement of Financial Position. 
The aggregate surplus or deficit arising on the 
valuation is accounted for through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Each property is subject to a year-end valuation 
to establish the fair value. Permanent deficits on 
individual investment properties are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Disposal Proceeds Fund

From 1 April 2017, the Disposals Proceeds Fund no 
longer exists; from this date any grant on disposal 
has been credited into the Recycling of Capital Grant 
Fund, while the remaining creditor on the fund will 
be carried forward until it has been fully depleted in 
funding the acquisition of new social housing.

Current Asset Investments

Investments are held at market value.

Holiday Pay Accrual 

A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused 
holiday pay entitlement which has accrued at the 
balance sheet date and carried forward to future 
periods. This is measured at the undiscounted salary 
cost of the future holiday entitlement so accrued at 
the balance sheet date.

Other Grants

Grants received from non-government sources 
are recognised under the performance model. If 
there are no specific performance requirements the 
grants are recognised when received or receivable. 
Where grant is received with specific performance 
requirements it is recognised as a liability until the 
conditions are met and then it is recognised as 
turnover.

Other grants include Gap Funding received from the 
Homes and Community Agency (HCA), formerly the 
Department of Communities and Local Government 
and have been utilised to reduce the capital costs of 
works to housing properties.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

Depreciation of Housing Properties 

The Group separately identifies the major components which comprise its housing properties, and charges 
depreciation, so as to write-down the cost of each component to its estimated residual value, on a straight 
line basis, over its estimated useful economic life.

Where a housing property comprises two or more major components with substantially different useful lives 
(UELs), each component is accounted for separately and depreciated over its UEL. Expenditure relating to 
subsequent replacement or renewal of components is capitalised as incurred. Depreciation charges are part 
of the Group’s running costs and are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the useful 
life of the asset. The Group depreciates the major components of its housing properties held for letting at the 
following lifespan and annual rates:

Years Rates

Structure 30 -125 0.8% - 3.3%

Groundworks 0 – 100 0% - 1%

Roofs 30 - 65 1.5% - 3.3%

External Works 0 - 50 0% - 2.0%

Kitchens 20 - 25 4.0% - 5.0%

Bathrooms 25 - 30 3.3% - 4.0%

Internal Other 0 - 40 0% - 2.5%

Windows 30 0% - 3.3%

Doors 0 - 30 0% - 3.3%

Garages/ Outbuildings 0 - 30 0% - 3.3%

Disabled Adaptations 0 - 30 0% - 3.3%

Mechanical Other 0 - 30 0% - 3.3%

Heating Systems 15 - 30 1.5% - 3.3%

Rewires 25 - 40 2.5% - 4.0%

Boilers Systems 15 - 23 6.7% - 4.3%

Freehold land is not depreciated. Properties held on leases are amortised over the life of the lease or their 
estimated useful economic lives in the business, if shorter.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment

Assets are reviewed for impairment if there is an indication that impairment may have occurred. Indicators 
considered include external sources of information such as market value, actual or proposed changes to 
technological, economic or legal environment, obsolescence or damage to the asset, operational changes 
or internal reporting indicates that the asset is performing worse than expected. Where there is evidence of 
impairment, fixed assets are written down to their recoverable amount. Impairment is recognised where the 
carrying value of a cash generating unit exceeds the higher of its net realisable value or its value in use. Any 
such write down is charged to operating surplus.

Positive and Negative Goodwill

On acquisition, the recognised assets and liabilities of the acquired asset or entity will be measured at a fair 
value that reflects the conditions at the date of the acquisition. Positive or negative goodwill that arises will 
be treated as a gain or loss to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year the transaction occurs.

Current Asset Investments

Investments are held at market value.

Other Tangible Fixed Assets

Depreciation is provided evenly on the cost of other tangible fixed assets to write them down to their 
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land.  
The principal annual rates used for other assets are:

Freehold buildings A range of 1% to 10%

Long leasehold property Over life of lease

Furniture, fixtures and fittings A range of 10% to 20%

Computers and office equipment A range of 20% to 33.33%

Motor vehicles 25% to 33.33%

Plant and equipment 20%

Fire alarm upgrades 6.6%

Leased Assets

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.



49 | Report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 | karbonhomes.co.uk

2. Accounting Policies (continued)

Properties Held for Sale

Properties developed for outright sale, shared 
ownership first tranche sales and properties under 
construction are included in current assets as they 
are intended to be sold, at the lower of cost or 
estimated selling price less costs to complete and 
sell. Cost comprises materials, direct labour and 
direct development overheads. Net realisable value 
is based on estimated sales price after allowing for 
all further costs of completion and disposal.

At each reporting date, stock and properties held for 
sale are assessed for impairment. If there is evidence 
of impairment, the carrying amount is reduced to 
its selling price less costs to complete and sell. The 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Short-term Debtors and Creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate 
and receivable or payable within one year are 
recorded at transaction price. Any losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in other operating expenses.

Liquid Resources

Liquid resources are readily disposable current asset 
investments. They include investments held for more 
than 24 hours, which can only be withdrawn without 
penalty on maturity or by giving notice of more than 
one working day. These are shown as cash within 
the statement of financial position.

Provisions

The Group only provides for contractual liabilities.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
comprise cash and cash equivalents, investments, 
trade debtors, other debtors, accrued income and 
amounts owed by association undertakings.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
comprise bank loans, trade creditors and other 
creditors.

Loan Finance Issue Costs

These are amortised over the life of the related 
loan. Loans are stated in the Statement of Financial 
Position at the amount of the net proceeds after 
issue, plus increases to account for any subsequent 
amounts amortised. Where loans are redeemed 
during the year, any redemption penalty and any 
connected loan finance issue costs are recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year 
in which the redemption took place.

Loan Breakage Costs

Any breakage cost which are not cash settled when 
first incurred are included in lenders’ future margins 
and are therefore paid over the remaining life of 
the loan. The breakage cost is provided for in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when first 
incurred and released over the life of the loan with 
the effect of reducing future year interest payable 
charges accordingly.

Loan Prepayment

The Group’s debt has been treated as “basic” in 
accordance with paragraphs 11.8 and 11.9 of FRS 
102. The Group has some fixed rate loans which 
have a two-way break clause (i.e. in addition to 
compensation being payable by a borrower to a 
lender if a loan is prepaid where the prevailing fixed 
rate is lower than the existing loan’s fixed rate, 
compensation could be payable by the lender to 
the borrower in the event that a loan is prepaid and 
the prevailing fixed rate is higher than the existing 
loan’s fixed rate). The Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC) issued a statement on 2 June 2016 in respect 
of such loans with no prescriptive direction as to 
whether they should be classified as “basic” or “non 
basic”. On the grounds that the Group believes the 
recognition of each debt liability at cost provides 
a more transparent and understandable position 
of the Group’s financial position and that each 
loan still satisfies the requirements of paragraphs 
11.8 and 11.9 of FRS 102, the Group has retained 
its “basic” treatment of its debt following the FRC 
announcement.

Revenue Reserves

There are several reasons why the Group needs to 
generate reserves:

•  to provide a cushion against risk and uncertainty of 
future operations;

•  to finance future major repairs and improvements; 
and

•  to provide internal subsidy for new homes and 
property development.

 Due to the reduction in Social Housing Grant (SHG) 
and other capital grants available to the sector over 
recent years, the Group needs to commit more of 
their reserves to financing investment in new homes 
and larger maintenance programmes. This approach 
not only enables greater investment but it also 
reduces interest costs as further loans can be kept to 
a minimum.
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3.  Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus

2018 Group Turnover 
£ ’000

Cost of 
Sales 

£ ’000

Operating 
Expenditure 

£ ’000

Operating 
Surplus 

£ ’000

Social housing lettings   Note 3(a)  107,146  -  (80,939)  26,207 
Other social housing activities
Development services  6,207  (5,726)  (865)  (384)
Support services  1,355  -  (2,392)  (1,037)
Community investment  77  -  (436)  (359)
First tranche shared ownership sales  1,624  (1,297)  73  400 
Other  2,817  -  (1,890)  927 

 12,080  (7,023)  (5,510)  (453)
Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  285  -  (18)  267 
Properties developed for outright sale  1,489  (1,191)  -  298 
Market rentals  2,862  (285)  (327)  2,250 
External services  2,667  (2,355)  (288)  24 
Other  149  21  (276)  (106)

 7,452  (3,810)  (909)  2,733 
Total before negative goodwill  126,678  (10,833)  (87,358)  28,487 
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition of 
subsidiary (Note 31)

 1,693  -  -  1,693 

 128,371  (10,833)  (87,358)  30,180

2017 Restated Group Turnover  
£ ’000

Cost of 
Sales 

£ ’000

Operating 
Expenditure 

£ ’000

Operating 
Surplus 

£ ’000

Social housing lettings   Note 3(a)  104,169  -  (73,877)  30,292 

Other social housing activities
Development services  1,934  (1,763)  (721)  (550)
Support services  1,371  -  (1,955)  (584)
Community investment  108  -  (535)  (427)
First tranche shared ownership sales  2,158  (1,894)  -  264 
Other  3,256  -  (1,171)  2,085 

 8,827  (3,657)  (4,382)  788 
Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  188  -  -  188 
Properties developed for outright sale  250  (184)  -  66 
Market rentals  2,712  (535)  (313)  1,864 
External services  1,750  (1,574)  (176)  - 
Other  686  -  (200)  486 

 5,586  (2,293)  (689)  2,604 
 118,582  (5,950)  (78,948)  33,684 
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3.  Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

2018 Association Turnover 
£ ’000

Cost of 
Sales 

£ ’000

Operating 
Expenditure 

£ ’000

Operating 
Surplus 

£ ’000

Social housing lettings   Note 3(a)  105,298  -  (79,305)  25,993 

Other social housing activities
Development services  431  -  (828)  (397)
Support services  1,354  -  (2,377)  (1,023)
Community investment  77  -  (436)  (359)
First tranche shared ownership sales  1,394  (1,133)  -  261 
Other  2,856  -  (2,212)  644 

 6,112  (1,133)  (5,853)  (874)
Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  223  -  -  223 
Properties developed for outright sale  659  (509)  -  150 
Market rentals  -  -  -  - 
External Services  4,938  (4,914)  -  24 
Other  10  -  (12)  (2)

 5,830  (5,423)  (12)  395 
 117,240  (6,556)  (85,170)  25,514

2017 Restated Association Turnover  
£ ’000

Cost of 
Sales  

£ ’000

Operating 
Expenditure 

£ ’000

Operating 
Surplus  

£ ’000

Social housing lettings   Note 3(a)  104,169  -  (73,877)  30,292 
Other social housing activities
Development services  163  -  (681)  (518)
Support services  1,371  -  (1,955)  (584)
Community investment  108  -  (535)  (427)
First tranche shared ownership sales  2,158  (1,894)  -  264 
Other  3,256  -  (1,171)  2,085 

 7,056  (1,894)  (4,342)  820 
Non-social housing activities
Other rental income  188  -  -  188 
Properties developed for outright sale  250  (184)  -  66 
Market rentals  -  -  -  - 
External Services  3,916  (3,539)  (377)  - 
Other  536  -  (250)  286 

 4,890  (3,723)  (627)  540 
 116,115  (5,617)  (78,846)  31,652
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3. (a)  Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings

Group 2018 2017 
Restated

General 
Housing 

£’000

Supported 
and 

Sheltered 
Housing 

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

£’000

Total 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Turnover from social housing lettings

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges and net of voids

 86,057  5,846  771  92,674  90,945 

Service charges income  6,916  1,919  454  9,289  8,699 

Net rental income  92,973  7,765  1,225  101,963  99,644 

Revenue grants  173  40  1  214  - 

Amortised government grants  4,300  69  9  4,378  4,254 

Other income  518  49  24  591  271 

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

 97,964  7,923  1,259  107,146  104,169 

Management  (12,893)  (1,557)  (529)  (14,979)  (15,504)

Services  (9,905)  (1,720)  (347)  (11,972)  (10,486)

Routine maintenance  (19,876)  (1,147)  (20)  (21,043)  (21,713)

Planned maintenance  (12,223)  (666)  (199)  (13,088)  (7,015)

Bad debts  (698)  (51)  1  (748)  (648)

Depreciation of housing properties  (18,967)  (172)  -  (19,139)  (17,878)

Impairment of housing properties  -  -  -  -  (451)

Impairment of freehold property  30  -  -  30  (182)

Operating expenditure on social 
housing lettings

 (74,532)  (5,313)  (1,094)  (80,939)  (73,877)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

 23,432  2,610  165  26,207  30,292 

Void losses  1,243  135  2  1,380  1,032 
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3. (a)  Turnover, cost of sales, operating expenditure and operating surplus (continued)

Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings

Association 2018 2017 
Restated

General 
Housing 

£’000

Supported 
and 

Sheltered 
Housing 

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

£’000

Total  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Turnover from social housing lettings

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges and net of voids

 85,353  5,243  730  91,326  90,945 

Service charges income  6,867  1,738  446  9,051  8,699 

Net rental income  92,220  6,981  1,176  100,377  99,644 

Revenue grants  155  -  -  155  - 

Amortised government grants  4,189  -  -  4,189  4,254 

Other income  514  40  23  577  271 

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

 97,078  7,021  1,199  105,298  104,169 

Management  (12,658)  (1,341)  (510)  (14,509)  (15,504)

Services  (9,847)  (1,554)  (345)  (11,746)  (10,486)

Routine maintenance  (19,616)  (967)  (6)  (20,589)  (21,713)

Planned maintenance  (12,216)  (660)  (198)  (13,074)  (7,015)

Bad debts  (711)  (59)  -  (770)  (648)

Depreciation of housing properties  (18,647)  -  -  (18,647)  (17,878)

Impairment of housing properties  -  -  -  -  (451)

Impairment and other lease costs  30  -  -  30  (182)

Operating expenditure on social 
housing lettings

 (73,665)  (4,581)  (1,059)  (79,305)  (73,877)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

 23,413  2,440  140  25,993  30,292 

Void losses  1,228  121  1  1,350  1,032 
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4.  Accommodation in management and development

 
Group and Association

At the end of the year accommodation in management for each class of accommodation was as follows:

      Group      Association

2018  
No.

2017 
Restated 

No.

2018  
No.

2017 
Restated 

No.

General housing - Social Rent  19,907  19,660  19,525  19,660 

General housing - Affordable Rent  1,751  1,463  1,579  1,463 

Care Homes  14  14  14  14 

Sheltered housing/older persons  795  773  795  773 

Supported housing  722  476  527  476 

Shared ownership housing  686  596  635  596 

Market Rented  472  453  11  138 

Student Housing  27  -  -  - 

Owned and managed by others  201  32  280  32 

Total owned 24,575  23,467  23,366  23,152 

Accommodation managed for others  158  44  57  44 

Total owned and managed  24,733  23,511  23,423  23,196
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5. Operating Surplus

This is arrived at after charging:

         Group         Association

2018  
£’000

2017  
£’000

2018  
£’000

2017  
£’000

Depreciation of housing properties  18,235  17,416  17,743  17,416 

Depreciation of housing properties - write off on 
replacement

 913  462  913  462 

Amortisation of Housing Properties  (4,317)  (4,253)  (4,128)  (4,253)

Amortisation of Housing Properties -write off on 
replacement

 (61)  (1)  (61)  (1)

Impairment of housing properties  -  556  -  556 

Impairment of freehold property  (30)  182  (30)  182 

Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets  1,319  1,082  1,187  796 

Provision for redundancy costs  2,320  114  2,320  114 

Deficit on disposal of other tangible fixed assets  21  12  21  12 

Operating lease rentals: 

- land and buildings  542  573  494  573 

- office equipment, computers and motor vehicles  844  629  844  629 

Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT):

- audit of the Group financial statements 40 67 40 67

- audit of subsidiaries 18 7  - -

Fees payable to the company's auditor and  
it's associates for other services

- taxation compliance services 4 4 4 4

- service charge certification 2 2 2 2

- other 2 28 0 28
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6.  Surplus on sale of fixed assets – housing properties

         Group         Association

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Proceeds from sale of properties  5,280  12,524  4,271  6,449 

Less:

Net book value of properties  (2,273)  (9,185)  (1,636)  (3,166)

Proceeds to be returned to Northumberland  (180)  (461)  (180)  (461)

County Council

Disposal Proceeds Fund  -  (1,281)  -  (1,281)

Grant written off on disposal  142  1,196  142  1,196 

Recyclable grants on disposal  (40)  (730)  (40)  (730)

Administration charges  (129)  (270)  (129)  (270)

Net surplus from sale of properties  2,800 1,793  2,428 1,737

7.  Interest receivable and other income

          Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

Interest receivable and other income 112 44 2,205 1,751
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8.  Interest payable and similar charges

         Group         Association

2018 
£’000 

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

On bank loans and other loans  12,252  12,369  11,751  12,245 

Loan breakage costs  (130)  -  (130)  - 

Loan non-utilisation fees  394  28  394  28 

Release of loan breakage costs  -  (129)  -  (129)

Interest on RCGF  6  6  6  6 

Interest on DPF  -  -  -  - 

Other Interest  4  -  -  - 

  12,526  12,274  12,021  12,150 

9. Employees

Average monthly number of employees expressed in full time equivalents (calculated based on a standard 
working week of 35 hours):

2018
No.

2017 
Restated

No.

2018
No.

2017 
Restated

No.

Housing management & repairs 500 479 489 473

Administration, finance and other 185 193 182 193

Development 23 20 23 20

Housing support and care 43 48 43 48

751 740 737 734
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9. Employees (continued)

The full time equivalent number of key management personnel who received remuneration:

2018 2017

No. No.

£60,001 to £70,000 1 9

£70,001 to £80,000 9 1

£80,001 to £90,000 - 1

£90,001 to £100,000 2 3

£100,001 to £110,000 2 2

£110,001 to £120,000 2 -

£120,001 to £130,000 1 -

£130,001 to £140,000 1 -

£140,001 to £150,000 - 2

£150,001 to £160,000 - 1

£160,001 to £170,000 - -

£170,001 to £180,000 1 -

£180,001 to £220,000 - -

£220,001 to £230,000 - 1

The full time equivalent number of key management personnel includes the annualised salaries of three York 
Housing Association employees.
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9. Employees (continued)

Employee Costs          Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

Wages and salaries 21,763 21,583 21,398 21,478

Social security costs 2,136 2,138 2,104 2,132

Other pension costs 2,363 2,706 2,357 2,706

26,262 26,427 25,859 26,316

Redundancy costs 2,740 1,420 2,719 1,420

29,002 27,847 28,578 27,736

 The actuarial revaluation of the SHPS pension takes place every three years and the scheme actuary is 
currently finalising the 2017 valuation albeit no provisional results are as yet available. 

 The next revaluation will take place in September 2020. 

Pension schemes

 The Group’s employees are members of the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS), Northumberland County 
Council Pension Fund (NCCPF), Durham County Council Pension Fund (DCCPF) or the Social Housing Pension 
- defined contribution Scheme. The nature of each defined benefit scheme is detailed below. 

 Social Housing Pension Scheme (Karbon Homes Limited)

 The Association participates in the SHPS Pension Scheme (the Scheme), a multi-employer scheme which 
provides benefits to some 500 non-associated employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. 
It is not possible for the Association to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the scheme as 
a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme.

 The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 
30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial 
Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit 
occupational pension schemes in the UK.

 The scheme is classified as a ‘last-man standing arrangement’. Therefore the company is potentially liable 
for other participating employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the 
scheme deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet 
their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.
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9. Employees (continued)

Social Housing Pension Scheme (continued)

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2014. This 
actuarial valuation was certified on 23 November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, liabilities of £4,446m 
and a deficit of £1,323m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees and the participating employers 
have agreed that additional contributions will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the scheme as 
follows:

Deficit contributions:

Tier 1
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2020:

£40.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 4.7% each year on 1 April)

Tier 2
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2023:

£28.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 4.7% each year on 1 April)

Tier 3
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026:

£32.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 3.0% each year on 1 April)

Tier 4
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026:

£31.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 3.0% each year on 1 April)

 The scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2011; this valuation 
was certified on 17 December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, liabilities of £3,097m and a deficit of 
£1,035m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, payments consisted of the Tier 1, 2 & 3 deficit contributions.

 Where the scheme is in deficit and where the company has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement, the 
company recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the 
deficit reduction contributions payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present value 
is calculated using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is 
recognised as a finance cost.
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9. Employees (continued)

Present values of provision

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

31 March 
2016

£ ’000

Present value of provision 5,241 6,079 6,592

Assumptions

31 March 
2018

% per 
annum

31 March 
2017

% per 
annum

31 March 
2016

% per 
annum

Rate of discount 1.72 1.33 2.06

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the 
future recovery plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield 
curve to discount the same recovery plan contributions.

Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions

Year 
ended

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Opening present value of liabilities 6,079 6,592

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 75 128

Deficit contributions paid (842) (810)

Re-measurements – impact of any change in assumptions (71)  169

Re-measurements – amendments to the contribution schedule  - -

Closing present value of liabilities 5,241 6,079

Due within one year 791 766

Due in more than one year 4,450 5,313

5,241 6,079
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9. Employees (continued)

Statement of Comprehensive Income impact

Year 
ended

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Interest expense 75 128

Re-measurements – impact of any change in assumptions  (71) 169

Re-measurements – amendments to the contribution schedule - -

Social Housing Pension Scheme (York Housing Association Limited)

The Association participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 
500 non-associated employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for 
the Association to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit 
scheme. Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 
30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial 
Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit 
occupational pension schemes in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a ‘last-man standing arrangement’. Therefore the Association is potentially 
liable for other participating employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the 
scheme deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet 
their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2014. This 
actuarial valuation was certified on 23 November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, liabilities of £4,446m 
and a deficit of £1,323m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees and the participating employers 
have agreed that additional contributions will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the scheme  
as follows:

Deficit contributions

Tier 1
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2020:

£40.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 4.7% each year on 1 April)

Tier 2
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2023:

£28.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 4.7% each year on 1 April)

Tier 3
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026:

£32.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 3.0% each year on 1 April)

Tier 4
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026:

£31.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing 
by 3.0% each year on 1 April)
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9. Employees (continued)

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2011; 
this valuation was certified on 17 December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, liabilities of £3,097m 
and a deficit of £1,035m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, payments consisted of the Tier 1, 2 & 3 deficit 
contributions.

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the company has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement, the 
company recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit 
reduction contributions payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present value is calculated 
using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised as 
a finance cost.

Present values of provision

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Present value of provision 836 961

Assumptions

31 March 
2018

% per 
annum

31 March 
2017

% per 
annum

Rate of discount 1.72 1.33

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the 
future recovery plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield 
curve to discount the same recovery plan contributions.

Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions

Year 
ended

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Opening present value of liabilities 961 1,033

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 12 20

Deficit contributions paid (125) (120)

Re-measurements - impact of any change in assumptions (12) 28

Re-measurements – amendments to the contribution schedule - -

Closing present value of liabilities 836 961

Due within one year 129 125

Due in more than one year 707 836

836 961
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9. Employees (continued)

Statement of Comprehensive Income impact

Year 
ended

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Interest expense 12 20

Re-measurements – impact of any change in assumptions  (12) 28

Re-measurements – amendments to the contribution schedule - -

Contributions paid in respect of future service - 24

Cost recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income - 72

Northumberland County Council Pension Fund (Former Isos Housing)

The Association participates in the Northumberland County Council Pension Fund (NCCPF). This is a multi-
employer scheme, administered by Northumberland County Council under the regulations governing the 
Local Government Pension Scheme, a defined benefit scheme. The most recent formal actuarial valuation of 
the scheme was at 31 March 2017 and rolled forward to 31 March 2018 by a qualified independent actuary.

The employers’ contributions to the NCCPF by the Association for the period ended 31 March 2018 were 
£134,645 (2017: £143,356) at contribution rates of 29.6% (2017: 25.4%) of pensionable pay. These amounts 
have been charged to operating costs.

Estimated employers’ contributions to the NCCPF during the accounting period commencing 1 April 2018 are 
£470,000.

Financial assumptions used by the actuary

31 March 
2018  
% pa

31 March 
2017 
% pa

Discount rate 2.6 2.5

RPI Inflation 3.2 3.1

CPI Inflation 2.1 2.0

Rate of increase in pensions payment 2.1 2.0

Rate of general increase in salaries 3.6 3.5

Pension accounts revaluation rate 2.1 2.0
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9. Employees (continued)

Mortality assumptions

The post-retirement mortality assumptions used to value the benefit obligation at March 2018 and March 
2017 included the following life expectations at the retirement age of 65:

2018 
No. of 
Years

2017 
No. of 
Years

Retiring today:

Males 22.9 22.8

Females 25.0 24.9

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 25.1 25.0

Females 27.3 27.2

Actual return on plan assets

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended  

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Actual return on plan assets 270 2,550
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9. Employees (continued)

Reconciliation of funded status to balance sheet

As at 31 
March 

2018 
£ ’000

As at 31 
March 

2017 
£ ’000

Notional value of assets 13,880 13,630

Present value of liabilities (15,710) (15,440)

Deficit (1,830) (1,810)

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018 

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017 

£ ’000

Opening present value of liabilities 15,440 13,480

Current service cost 160 150

Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 380 450

Contributions by participants 30 40

Actuarial losses on liabilities  70 1,690

Net benefits paid out (370) (370)

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities - -

Closing present value of liabilities 15,710 15,440

Changes in the fair value of assets

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Opening fair value of assets 13,630 11,080

Interest income on assets 340 380

Re-measurement (losses)/gains on assets (70) 2,170

Contributions by the employer 320 330

Contributions by participants 30 40

Net benefits paid out (370) (370)

Closing fair value of assets 13,880 13,630
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9. Employees (continued)

Analysis of the amount credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Current service cost (160) (150)

Contributions by employer 320 330

Past service costs - -

Total income 160 180

Analysis of the amount debited to other finance income

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017 

£ ’000

Interest income on assets 340 380

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (380) (450)

(40) (70)

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2016

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2015

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2014

£ ’000

Present value of liabilities 15,710 15,440 13,480 13,790 12,110

Fair value of assets 13,880 13,630 11,080 11,140 9,880

     

Deficit on the scheme (1,830) (1,810) (2,400) (2,650) (2,230)

    

Experience adjustments on plan assets (70) 2,170 (460) 770 (1,090)
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9. Employees (continued)

Analysis of amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

2018
£ ’000

2017
£ ’000

Actuarial (loss)/gain in other comprehensive income (140) 480

Actuarial gain due to changes in the assumptions underlying the present value 
of scheme liabilities

- -

Cumulative actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in OCI (140) 480

Movement in net pension (liability)

2018
£ ’000

2017
£ ’000

Group share of scheme assets and liabilities at beginning of period (1,810) (2,400)

Contributions paid 320 330

Current service cost  (160) (150)

Past service cost - -

Interest income on assets 340  380

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (380) (450)

Actuarial (loss)/gain (140)  480

Net deficit at 31 March (1,830) (1,810)

Durham County Council Pension Fund (Former Cestria)

The Group participates in the Durham County Council Pension Fund (DCCPF). This is a multi-employer 
scheme, administered by Durham County Council under the regulations governing the Local Government 
Pension Scheme, a defined benefit scheme. The most recent formal actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 
31 March 2017 and rolled forward to 31 March 2018 by a qualified independent actuary.

The employers’ contributions to the DCCPF by the Association for the period ended 31 March 2018 were 
£511,413 (2017: £451,287) at contribution rates of 16.3% (2017: 12.7%) of pensionable pay. 

Estimated employers’ contributions to the DCCPF during the accounting period commencing 1 April 2018  
are £333,000.
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9. Employees (continued)

Financial assumptions used by the actuary

As at 31 
March 

2018
% pa

As at 31 
March 

2017
% pa

Discount rate 2.6 2.6

RPI Inflation 3.1 3.1

CPI Inflation 2.0 2.0

Rate of increase in pensions payment 2.0 2.0

Rate of general increase in salaries 3.5 3.5

Pension accounts revaluation rate 2.0 2.0

Mortality assumptions

The post-retirement mortality assumptions used to value the benefit obligation at March 2018 and March 
2017 included the following life expectations at the retirement age of 65:

2018 
No. of 
Years

2017  
No. of 
Years

Retiring today:

Males 23.3 23.2

Females 25.0 24.9

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 25.5 25.4

Females 27.3 27.2

Actual return on plan assets

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Actual return on plan assets 440 3,080

Reconciliation of funded status to balance sheet

As at 31 
March 

2018
£ ’000

As at 31 
March 

2017
£ ’000

Notional value of assets 21,150 20,500

Present value of liabilities (29,960) (28,230)

Deficit (8,810) (7,730)
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9. Employees (continued)

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Opening present value of liabilities 28,230 19,670

Current service cost 1,220 970

Interest cost 730 680

Contributions by participants 210 230

Actuarial losses on liabilities 100 7,270

Net benefits paid out (610) (630)

Past service cost 80 40

Closing present value of liabilities 29,960 28,230

Changes in the fair value of assets

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Opening fair value of assets 20,500 17,330

Expected return on assets 540 610

Actuarial (losses)/gains on assets (100) 2,470

Contributions by the employer 610 490

Contributions by participants 210 230

Net benefits paid out (610) (630)

Closing fair value of assets 21,150 20,500

Analysis of the amount debited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Current service cost (1,220) (970)

Contributions by employer 610 490

Past service costs (80) (40)

Total income (690) (520)
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9. Employees (continued)

Analysis of the amount credited to other finance income

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Interest income on assets 540 610

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (730) (680)

(190) (70)

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2016

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2015

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2014

£ ’000

Present value of liabilities 21,150 28,230 19,670 19,600 16,080

Fair value of assets 29,960 20,500 17,330 16,880 15,110

Deficit on the scheme (8,810) (7,730) (2,340) (2,720) (970)

Analysis of amount recognised in other comprehensive income

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017

£ ’000

Actuarial (loss) recognised in other comprehensive income (200) (4,800)

Actuarial gain due to changes in the assumptions underlying the present value 
of scheme liabilities

- -

Cumulative actuarial (loss) recognised in OCI (200) (4,800)
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9. Employees (continued)

Movement in net pension (liability)

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2018 

£ ’000

Year 
ended 31 

March 
2017 

£ ’000

Group share of scheme assets and liabilities at beginning of period (7,730) (2,340)

Contributions paid 610 490

Current service cost (1,220) (970)

Past service cost (80) (40)

Interest income on assets 540 610

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (730) (680)

Actuarial (loss) (200) (4,800)

Net deficit at 31 March (8,810) (7,730)

Durham County Council Pension Fund (Former Derwentside)

The Group participates in the Durham County Council Pension Fund (DCCPF). This 
is a multi-employer scheme, administered by Durham County Council under the 
regulations governing the Local Government Pension Scheme, a defined benefit 
scheme. The most recent formal actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 
2017 and rolled forward to 31 March 2018 by a qualified independent actuary.

The employers’ contributions to the DCCPF by the Association for the period ended 
31 March 2018 were £766,843 (2017: £725,592) at contribution rates of 16.6% 
(2017: 14.4%) of pensionable pay. 

Estimated employers’ contributions to the DCCPF during the accounting period 
commencing 1 April 2018 are £556,000.

Financial assumptions used by the actuary

As at 31 
March 

2018 
% pa

As at 31 
March 

2017 
% pa

Discount rate 2.6 2.6

RPI Inflation 3.2 3.1

CPI Inflation 2.1 2.0

Rate of increase in pensions payment 2.1 2.0

Rate of general increase in salaries 3.6 3.5

Pension accounts revaluation rate 2.1 2.0
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9. Employees (continued)

Mortality assumptions

The post-retirement mortality assumptions used to value the benefit obligation at March 2018 and March 
2017 included the following life expectations at the retirement age of 65:

2018  
No. of 
Years

2017  
No. of 
Years

Retiring today:

Males 23.3 23.2

Females 25.0 24.9

Retiring in 20 years:

Males 25.5 25.4

Females 27.3 27.2

Actual return on plan assets

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018  

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017  

£ ’000

Actual return on plan assets 940 6,560

Reconciliation of funded status to balance sheet

As at 31 
March 

2018 
£ ’000

As at 31 
March 

2017  
£ ’000

Notional value of assets 44,470 43,870

Present value of liabilities  (56,320) (53,200)

Deficit (11,850) (9,330)
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9. Employees (continued)

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018  

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017  

£ ’000

Opening present value of liabilities 53,200 42,610

Current service cost 1,750 1,240

Interest cost 1,360 1,430

Contributions by participants 360 350

Actuarial losses on liabilities 1,230 8,760

Net benefits paid out (2,030)  1,190)

Past service cost 450 -

Closing present value of liabilities 56,320 53,200

Changes in the fair value of assets

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018  

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017  

£ ’000

Opening fair value of assets 43,870 37,430

Expected return on assets 1,140 1,270

Actuarial (losses)/gains on assets (200) 5,290

Contributions by the employer 1,330 720

Contributions by participants 360 350

Net benefits paid out (2,030) (1,190)

Closing fair value of assets 44,470 43,870

Analysis of the amount debited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018  

£ ’000

Year 
ended  

31 March 
2017  

£ ’000

Current service cost (1,750) (1,240)

Contributions by employer 1,330 720

Past service costs (450) -

Total income (870) (520)
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9. Employees (continued)

Analysis of the amount credited to other finance income

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018  

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017  

£ ’000

Interest income on assets 1,140 1,270

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (1,360) (1,430)

(220) (160)

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018 
£’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017 
£’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2016 
£’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2015 
£’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2014 
£’000

Present value of liabilities 56,320 53,200 42,610 43,680 37,370

Fair value of assets 44,470 43,870 37,430 38,810 34,690

Deficit on the scheme (11,850) (9,330) (5,180) (4,870) (2,680)

Analysis of amount recognised in other comprehensive income

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018  

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017  

£ ’000

Actuarial (loss) recognised in other comprehensive income (1,430) (3,470)

Actuarial gain due to changes in the assumptions underlying the present value 
of scheme liabilities

- -

Cumulative actuarial (loss) recognised in OCI (1,430) (3,470)

Movement in net pension (liability)

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2018  

£ ’000

Year 
ended 

31 March 
2017  

£ ’000

Group share of scheme assets and liabilities at beginning of period (9,330) (5,180)

Contributions paid 1,330 720

Current service cost (1,750) (1,240) 

Past service cost (450) -

Interest income on assets 1,140 1,270

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (1,360) (1,430)

Actuarial (loss) (1,430) (3,470)

Net deficit at 31 March (11,850) (9,330)
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10. Board members and executive directors 

The emoluments of the non-executive and executive directors (including pension contributions), who served 
during the year were as follows:

Non Executive Directors

2018  
Fee

£’000

2017  
Fee

£’000

Sebert Cox Group Chair 18,250 11,000

David Butler Vice Chair 12,000 9,000

Stephen Moorhouse Chair - Audit & Risk 11,000 8,000

Kathryn Larkin-Bramley Chair - Performance 9,000 5,000

John Swanson Chair - PBH 8,250 -

Adrian Stanley Chair - PBH 4,583 -

Hilary Florek Ordinary Member 7,000 6,500

Maxine Mayhew Ordinary Member 7,000 3,000

Anne Mulroy Ordinary Member 7,000 4,845

Barry Scarr Ordinary Member 7,000 5,500

John Williams Ordinary Member 7,000 5,548

All appointments commenced on 3 April 2017, with the exception of Adrian Stanley who commenced 
1 November 2017. John Swanson resigned from the Board on 18 December 2017. The Group Chief Executive, 
who is also a member of the Board, is remunerated as an Executive Director of Karbon Homes Limited.

Executive Directors

The aggregate emoluments of the executive directors for the year amounted to £928,631 (2017: £1,879,006) 
including pension contributions of £67,417 (2017: £53,336). The emoluments of the highest paid director, 
excluding pension contributions, were £171,100 (2017: £224,984). Following the amalgamation Karbon 
reviewed the Executive Team structure and as a result five posts were removed from the structure. Following 
this rationalisation a Durham County Council Local Government Pension Scheme pension shortfall cost of 
£334,992 was accrued for in the 2017 accounts and paid for in 2018.

During the year, compensation paid or payable to Directors for loss of office was nil (2017: £559,509). 

The Group Chief Executive is a member of the Social Housing Pension Scheme. He is an ordinary member 
of the pension scheme and no enhanced or special terms apply. The Association does not make any further 
contribution to an individual pension arrangement for the Group Chief Executive.
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11. Tax on surplus on ordinary activities

        Group          Association

2018
£ ’000

2017
£ ’000

2018
£ ’000

2017
£ ’000

Current tax

UK corporation tax on surplus for the year 37 19 37 8

Adjustments in respect of prior years (11) (5) - (3)

Tax on profits on ordinary activities 26 14 37 5

        Group          Association

2018
£ ’000

2017
£ ’000

2018
£ ’000

2017
£ ’000

Current tax reconciliation

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 22,594 21,735 18,743 21,013

Theoretical tax at UK corporation tax rate 20%  
(2017: 20%)

4,293 4,347 3,561 4,203

Tax exempt charitable income (3,905) (4,012) (3,524) (4,195)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - -  - -

Other short term timing differences (351) (316) - -

To claim in prior year -  - - -

Adjustments in respect of prior years (11) (5) - (3)

Current tax charge 26 14 37 5
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12. Intangible fixed assets - negative goodwill

        Group          Association

2018  
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

At 1 April  (64) - - -

Change arising from business combination 
transaction 

- (64) - -

Amounts recognised in surplus  64 - - -

At 31 March - (64) - -

Social Housing Enterprise Durham Limited (SHED Limited) was placed into members’ voluntary liquidation on 
31 March 2017 with an asset purchase agreement with Enterprise Durham Partnership (EDP), a subsidiary 
company of the former Derwentside Homes Group, also signed as at this date. £Nil consideration was paid 
by EDP for the fair value of assets and liabilities of SHED Limited of £63,678.

The Board considered this business combination transaction as an acquisition, hence acquisition accounting 
was followed and FRS 6 was applied such that the identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition, 
in both EDP Limited’s subsidiary accounts and also, therefore, in the consolidated group accounts of 
Karbon Homes Limited.

The difference between the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and the purchase consideration 
was considered negative goodwill. During the year to March 2018, the negative goodwill was impaired and 
the total recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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13. Tangible fixed assets - properties

Group - Housing properties Social 
housing 

properties 
held for 

letting  
£’000

Social 
housing 

properties 
under 

construction 
£’000

Shared 
Ownership 
properties 

held for 
letting  
£’000

Shared 
Ownership 
properties 

under 
construction 

£’000

Total  
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017  762,156  18,087  22,993  140 803,376 

Additions - construction 
costs

 1  38,254  -  1,125  39,380 

Additions - properties 
acquired

 30  -  -  -  30 

Properties acquired at fair 
value (note 31)

 32,292  1,016  1,655  407  35,370 

Enhancements to completed 
properties

 842  -  13  -  855 

Re-classification Adjustment  932  -  (422)  -  510 

Transferred from current 
assets

 -  -  332  -  332 

Transferred to Subsidiary  -  -  -  -  - 

Transferred to Investment 
Properties

 (5,796)  -  -  -  (5,796)

Capitalised Planned 
Maintenance

 9,189  -  5  -  9,194 

Schemes completed  31,581  (30,849)  (732)  -  - 

Disposals - properties  (2,413)  (165)  (323)  (3)  (2,904)

Disposals - write off on 
replacement

 (2,654)  -  -  -  (2,654)

At 31 March 2018  826,160  26,343  23,521  1,669 877,693 

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 April 2017  134,428  -  2,047  -  136,475 

Charged in year  18,052  -  183  -  18,235 

Impairment released in year  (273)  -  -  -  (273)

Re-classification Adjustment  (3)  -  3  -  - 

Released on transfer to 
Investment Properties

 (100)  -  -  -  (100)

Released on disposal - 
properties

 (666)  -  (35)  -  (701)

Released on disposal - 
replacements

 (1,741)  -  -  -  (1,741)

At 31 March 2018  149,697  -  2,198  -  151,895 

Net book value

At 31 March 2018  676,463  26,343  21,323  1,669  725,798 

At 31 March 2017  627,728  18,087  20,946  140  666,901 
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13.  Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued)

Association -  
Housing properties

Social 
housing 

properties 
held for 

letting  
£’000

Social 
housing 

properties 
under 

construction 
£’000

Shared 
Ownership 
properties 

held for 
letting  
£’000

Shared 
Ownership 
properties 

under 
construction 

£’000

Total  
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017  744,051  19,258  22,818  140  786,267 

Additions - construction 
costs

 -  37,840  -  983  38,823 

Additions - properties 
acquired

 30  -  -  -  30 

Enhancements to completed 
properties

 842  -  13  -  855 

Re-classification Adjustment  932  -  (422)  -  510 

Transferred from current 
assets

 -  -  332  -  332 

Transferred to Subsidiary  (1,868)  -  -  -  (1,868)

Transferred to Investment 
Properties

 (3,927)  -  -  -  (3,927)

Capitalised Planned 
Maintenance

 8,714  -  5  -  8,719 

Schemes completed  30,849  (30,849)  -  -  - 

Disposals - properties  (2,172)  (165)  (323)  (3)  (2,663)

Disposals - write off on 
replacement

 (2,413)  -  -  -  (2,413)

At 31 March 2018  775,038  26,084  22,423  1,120  824,665 

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 April 2017  145,190  -  2,047  -  147,237 

Charged in year  17,560  -  183  -  17,743 

Impairment released in year  (273)  -  -  -  (273)

Re-classification Adjustment  (3)  -  3  -  - 

Released on transfer to 
Investment Properties

 (100)  -  -  -  (100)

Released on disposal - 
properties

 (496)  -  (35)  -  (531)

Released on disposal - 
replacements

 (1,500)  -  -  -  (1,500)

At 31 March 2018  160,378  -  2,198  -  162,576 

Net book value

At 31 March 2018  614,660  26,084  20,225  1,120  662,089 

At 31 March 2017  598,861  19,258  20,771  140  639,030 
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13.  Tangible fixed assets – properties (continued)

Impairment

Properties have been impaired where the properties are of non-traditional construction and therefore 
have a limited life, have a high void rate or it is probable that a plan to regenerate existing properties by 
demolishing them will go ahead.

         Group        Association

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

At 1 April 1,505 872 1,505 872

Provided during the year - 633 - 633

Released during the year (273) - (273) -

At 31 March 1,232 1,505 1,232 1,505

The total number of housing units impaired is 206 (2017: 247). The carrying values of the properties pre-
impairment was £2,401,000.

Improvements to existing properties:

         Group        Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

Capitalised planned maintenance 9,194 14,354 8,719 14,354

Major repairs expenditure 13,088 7,015 13,074 7,015

22,282 21,369 21,793 21,369

Housing properties book value, net of depreciation, and offices net book value (note 14) comprises:

         Group        Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

Housing Properties

Freehold land and buildings 699,565 640,383 635,856 612,512

Long leasehold land and buildings 24,118 24,315 24,118 24,315

Short leasehold land and buildings 2,115 2,203 2,115 2,203

725,798 666,901 662,089 639,030

Offices

Freehold land and buildings 8,954 8,286 8,954 8,286



14. Tangible fixed assets – other

Group - Other Assets Freehold 
offices 

£’000

Furniture 
fixtures 

and fittings 
£’000

Computers 
and office 
equipment 

£’000

Motor 
vehicles 

£’000

Leasehold 
improvements 

£’000

Commercial 
premises 

£’000

Plant and 
equipment 

£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017  10,142  2,257  4,880  8  571  167  295  18,320 

Additions  124  144  1,526  -  -  -  7  1,801 

Acquisition of subsidiary  1,043  201  23  -  -  -  -  1,267 

Disposals  -  -  (2,052)  -  -  -  (113)  (2,165)

Transferred to property assets  (181)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (181)

At 31 March 2018  11,128  2,602  4,377  8  571  167  189  19,042 

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017  1,856  1,252  2,696  5  159  32  230  6,230 

Acquisition of subsidiary  134  67  11  -  -  -  -  212 

Charged in year  214  223  804  -  47  4  27  1,319 

Impairment released  (30)  112  -  -  -  -  -  82 

Released on disposal  -  (62)  (2,008)  -  -  -  (113)  (2,183)

At 31 March 2018  2,174  1,592  1,503  5  206  36  144  5,660 

Net book value

At 31 March 2018  8,954  1,010  2,874  3  365  131  45  13,382 

At 31 March 2017  8,286  1,005  2,184  3  412  135  65  12,090
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14.  Tangible fixed assets – other (continued)

Association - Other Assets Freehold 
offices 

£’000

Furniture 
fixtures 

and fittings 
£’000

Computers 
and office 
equipment 

£’000

Motor 
vehicles 

£’000

Leasehold 
improvements 

£’000

Commercial 
premises 

£’000

Plant and 
equipment 

£’000

Total  
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017  10,142  1,521  4,872  -  571  167  295  17,568 

Additions  124  -  1,526  -  -  -  7  1,657 

Disposals  -  -  (2,052)  -  -  -  (113)  (2,165)

Transferred to property assets  (181)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (181)

At 31 March 2018  10,085  1,521  4,346  -  571  167  189  16,879 

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017  1,856  1,121  2,688  -  159  32  230  6,086 

Charged in year  210  98  801  -  47  4  27  1,187 

Impairment  (30)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (30)

Released on disposal  -  -  (2,008)  -  -  -  (113)  (2,121)

At 31 March 2018  2,036  1,219  1,481  -  206  36  144  5,122 

Net book value

At 31 March 2018  8,049  302  2,865  -  365  131  45  11,757 

At 31 March 2017  8,286  400  2,184  -  412  135  65  11,482 
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15.  Investment properties non-social housing properties held for letting

Group – Investment Properties Investment 
Properties

£’000

Investment 
Properties

under 
construction

£,000

Total
£’000

Valuation

At 1 April 2017 39,063 2,194 41,977

Additions 2,201 650 2,851

Reclassification from housing properties 5,791 (2,164) 3,627

Transfer to Subsidiary - - -

Disposals (251) (489) (740)

Increase in value 2,574 - 2,574

At 31 March 2018 49,378 911 50,289

At 31 March 2017 39,063 2,914 41,977

Association – Investment Properties Investment 
Properties

£’000

Investment 
Properties

under 
construction 

£’000

Total
£’000

Valuation

At 1 April 2017 12,847 - 12,847

Additions 105 - 105

Reclassification from housing properties 3,876 - 3,876

Transfer to Subsidiary (378) - (378)

Disposals (145) - (145)

Increase in value 1,163 - 1,163

At 31 March 2018 17,468 - 17,468

At 31 March 2017 12,847 - 12,847

The valuation of investment properties was carried out in March 2018 and is based on their market value 
as at that date. The valuation was carried out by an employee who is a qualified chartered surveyor and 
an associate member of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. The employee has relevant experience 
working within the residential sector of County Durham since 2004.

On consolidation of the Group’s housing property values, any unrealised surpluses derived from inter-group 
property sales are removed.
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16. Investment in subsidiaries

At 31 March 2018 the Karbon Group comprised the parent, Karbon Homes Limited, together with the 
following organisations each of which are subsidiaries of the Association within the meaning of the  
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014:

Organisation Applicable Model Rules Co-operative 
and Community 
Benefit Societies 
Act Registration 
Number

Regulator of 
Social Housing 
Registration 
Number

Other 
Registration 
and Registered 
Number

York Housing 
Association

National Housing 
Federation model Rules 
(2015)

16826R L1019 -

Prince Bishops 
Homes Limited

Memorandum and 
Articles of Association – 
Companies Act

- - Registrar of 
Companies - 
06712466

Enterprise Durham 
Partnership Limited

Memorandum and 
Articles of Association – 
Companies Act

- - Registrar of 
Companies - 
09077819

Next Level 
Developments 
Limited

Memorandum and 
Articles of Association – 
Companies Act

- - Registrar of 
Companies - 
1645896

Karbon 
Developments 
Limited

Memorandum and 
Articles of Association – 
Companies Act

- - Registrar of 
Companies - 
04895180

Karbon Solutions 
Limited

Memorandum and 
Articles of Association – 
Companies Act

- - Registrar of 
Companies - 
09475120

The Group has taken advantage of the exceptions within FRS102 ‘Related party Transactions’ not to disclose 
transactions with other wholly owned group companies.

Karbon Homes Limited holds 98 ordinary £1 shares in Karbon Solutions Limited with the remaining 2 
ordinary £1 share held by Castles and Coasts Housing Association and Byker Community Trust Limited. 
Karbon Solutions Support Limited is a non-profit making, cost sharing vehicle which provides gas servicing, 
repair and installation services and business services. During the year the Association had the following 
intra-group transactions:

2018 
£

2017 
£

Allocation Basis

Provision of heating, maintenance and 
business services

4,421,000 3,368,000 Actual costs

Management services 493,000 349,000 Percentage of central 
overheads

4,914,000 3,717,000

Karbon Solutions Limited owes Karbon Homes Limited £902,293 (2017: £663,819) at the year end.
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17. Investments

HomeBuy loans receivable        Group          Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

At 1 April 291 320 291 320

Loans issued in the year - - - -

Loans redeemed during year (15) (29) (15) (29)

Provisions against non-recoverable loans - - - -

At 31 March 276 291 276 291

The loans are repayable when the properties, against which the loans are charged, are sold. No interest 
is charged; however the Association takes the proportion of the sale proceeds as agreed at the 
commencement of the loan and any associate grants are recycled.

18. Properties for sale

       Group          Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Completed shared ownership properties  - 1,345  -  1,345 

Shared ownership properties under construction  1,355 140  1,120  140 

Completed properties for outright sale  1,065 980  -  362 

Properties for outright sale under construction  751  -  751  - 

  3,171  2,465  1,871  1,847 
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19. Deferred Asset

Group and Association

Under the transfer agreement, the pension deficit relating to those employees transferring across from 
Derwentside District Council became the responsibility of the former Derwentside Homes Limited. The 
Association as part of this agreement will use receipts from Right to Buy/Right to Acquire sales less net income 
foregone, administration fee (both retained by the Association) and £9,999 (paid to the Council), to offset this 
payment. This represents a deferred asset in the balance sheet. Derwentside District Council had indemnified 
the Association to make up any shortfall in the event that these funds do not cover the transferred pension 
liability. This agreement came to an end on 5 December 2016.

Group and Association

2018 
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000 

At 1 April 815 915

Net Proceeds of Right to Buy sales - (100)

At 31 March 815 815

20.  Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Due within one year

Rent and service charges receivable  4,457 4,295  4,163  4,069 

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts  (2,786) (2,147)  (2,673)  (2,147)

 1,671  2,148  1,490  1,922 

Social Housing Grant receivable  1,930  311  1,930  311 

Other debtors  3,422  3,579  2,006  2,329 

Amounts owed from subsidiary undertakings  -  -  1,474  1,666 

Amounts owed from associates  -  -  -  - 

Prepayments and accrued income  8,301  5,042  7,358  4,697 

  15,324  11,080  14,258  10,925 
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21.  Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Due over one year

Amounts owed from Group undertakings  -  -  20,859  18,078 

  -  -  20,859  18,078 

The amount owed by the subsidiary companies of £20.86 million, relates to intercompany loans between 
the former Derwentside Homes Limited (now Karbon Homes Limited) and Prince Bishop Homes Limited and 
Enterprise Durham Partnership Limited (EDP).

The loan amount is secured on the assets of Prince Bishops Homes Limited and interest is charged on the 
full loan balance at 5.25%. The loan is repayable over a 20 year period or on the sale of the property. Prince 
Bishops Homes Limited can at any time make voluntary repayment. The loan to EDP is payable on demand 
and interest is charged on the full loan balance at 5.25%.

22. Investments

The AHF loan value was held in the sinking fund until the completion of any property charging. Going 
forward it is a requirement of the AHF loan to maintain a sinking fund to ensure compliance with Fixed Asset 
Value and Net Annual Income; however following the completion of the property charging exercise this has 
been released during the year.

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

AHF Sinking Fund - 40,689 - 40,689

Liquidity Investment Reserve 997 - 997 -

Barclays Bank 843 - - -

Santander UK 950 - - -

Bank of Scotland 959 - - -

Clydesdale Bank 251 - - -

Mitsubishi UFB Bank 1,000 - - -

5,000 40,689 997 40,689
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23.  Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Debt (note 28)  4,699  1,482  3,491  1,482 

Trade creditors  3,807  4,861  3,212  3,805 

Rent and service charges received in advance  1,228  1,404  1,081  1,356 

Social Housing Grant received in advance  -  -  -  - 

Amounts due to contractors for certified work  681  387  681  387 

Amounts owed to Local Authorities for RTB sales  194  171  194  171 

Amounts owing to subsidiary undertakings  -  -  442  2,783 

Recycled Capital Grant Fund (note 25)  624  468  606  468 

Disposal Proceeds Fund (note 26)  632  434  632  434 

Other taxation and social security  557  564  524  545 

Other creditors  1,502  1,862  1,430  1,862 

Accruals and deferred income  10,736  10,288  7,041  6,578 

Service charge creditor  644  617  644  617 

Deferred Capital Grant (note 27)  5,088  5,747  4,578  5,747 

Corporation tax liability  37  19 37  8 

SHPS pension liability  920  766  791  766 

 31,349  29,070 25,384  27,009
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24.  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

Debt (note 28)  274,512  276,575  249,107  268,598 

Loan breakage costs (note 28)  1,302  1,432  1,302  1,432 

Loan premium  6,607  6,487  6,218  6,487 

Total debt  282,421  284,494  256,627  276,517 

Recycled Capital Grant Fund (note 25)  2,270  1,251  1,346  1,251 

Disposal Proceeds Fund (note 26)  1,206  1,761  1,206  1,761 

HomeBuy Grant  276  291  276  291 

Other creditors  10  17  10  17 

Amounts owing to subsidiaries  -  -  -  - 

SHPS pension liability  5,158  5,313  4,451  5,313 

  291,341  293,127  263,916  285,150
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25. Recycled capital grant fund

Funds pertaining to activities within areas covered by the Homes England 
(formerly the Homes and Communities Agency):

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

At 1 April  1,719  1,610  1,719  1,610 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  555 - - -

Grants recycled  953  768  566  768 

Interest accrued  6  6  6  6 

Major repairs and works to existing stock  -  -  -  - 

Withdrawal for development of properties  (339)  (665)  (339)  (665)

Balance at 31 March  2,894  1,719  1,952  1,719 

Further analysed as:

Grant remaining:

-  in the fund for three years at 31 March  129  -  129  - 

-  in the fund for two years but fewer than three  495  468  477  468 

-  in the fund for one year but fewer than two  848  477  774  477 

- in the fund less than one year  1,422  774  572  774 

Balance at 31 March  2,894  1,719  1,952  1,719 
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26. Disposal proceeds fund

Funds pertaining to activities within areas covered by the Homes England 
(formerly the Homes and Communities Agency):

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

At 1 April  2,195  1,056  2,195  1,056 

Inputs to DPF:

Funds recycled  -  1,205  -  1,205 

Net PRTB receipts  -  -  -  - 

Certain proceeds of profit making PRPs  -  -  -  - 

Interest accrued  -  -  -  - 

Transfer from other PRPs  -  -  -  - 

Use/Allocation of funds:

New Build  (357)  (66)  (357)  (66)

Major repairs and works to existing stock  -  -  -  - 

Transfers to othe PRPs  -  -  -  - 

Other  -  -  -  - 

Repayment of Funds to HCA  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 31 March  1,838  2,195  1,838  2,195 

Further analysed as:

Grant remaining:

-  in the fund for three years at 31 March  78  233  78  233 

-  in the fund for two years but fewer than three  554  201  554  201 

-  in the fund for one year but fewer than two  1,206  555  1,206  555 

- in the fund less than one year  -  1,206  -  1,206 

Balance at 31 March  1,838  2,195  1,838  2,195 
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27. Deferred capital grant

       Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

2018
£’000

2017 
Restated 

£’000

At 1 April  272,176  267,329  272,176  267,329 

Grant received in the year  10,498  6,217  10,498  6,217 

Acquisition of subsidiary  28,095  -  -  - 

Transferred (to)/from RCGF  (152)  (470)  95  (470)

Reclassification  576  -  576  - 

Grant Write off on disposal  (125)  (896)  (125)  (896)

Grant Write off on Replacement  (91)  (4)  (91)  (4)

At 31 March  310,977  272,176  283,129  272,176 

Grant Amortisation

At 1 April  40,860  37,496  40,860  37,496 

Acquisition of subsidiary  6,929  -  -  - 

Amortisation in year  4,317  4,253  4,128  4,253 

Released on disposal - properties  (104)  (886)  (104)  (886)

Released on disposal- replacements  (30)  (3)  (30)  (3)

Other  (18)  -  (18)  - 

At 31 March  51,954  40,860  44,836  40,860 

Deferred Capital Grant

At 31 March  259,023  231,316  238,293  231,316 

At 1 April  231,316  229,833  231,316  229,833 

Further analysed as:

Amount due to be released:

- within one year  5,088  5,747  4,578  5,747 

- after one year  253,935  225,569  233,715  225,569 

 259,023  231,316  238,293  231,316 

Social housing grant and other grant        Group         Association

2018 
Restated

£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Total accumulated grant receivable at 31 March was:

Capital grants 310,977 272,176 283,129 272,176

Revenue grants 4,219 4,005 4,160 4,005

315,196 276,181 287,289 276,181
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28. Debt analysis

       Group         Association

2018
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

2018
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

Due within one year

Bank loans 4,699 1,482 3,491 1,482

Due after more than one year

Bank loans 226,192 232,255 204,787 224,278

THFC debt 9,500 5,500 5,500 5,500

AHF debt 34,400 34,400 34,400 34,400

HCA Loan 4,420 4,420 4,420 4,420

279,211 278,057 252,598 270,080

Within one year 4,699 1,482 3,491 1,482

Between one and two years 9,834 2,283 9,462 2,283

Between two and five years 58,398 23,215 56,686 19,215

After five years 206,280 251,077 182,959 247,100

279,211 278,057 252,598 270,080

Breakage costs

Opening breakage cost 1,432 1,561 1,432 1,561

Amortised to interest payable (130) (129) (130) (129)

1,302 1,432 1,302 1,432

At 31 March 2018 the Group had undrawn loan facilities of £81 million (2017: £44m). Bank debt is secured 
by specific charges on the Group’s housing, land and buildings and is repayable at rates of interest varying 
between 1.25% and 6.62% in instalments due as detailed above. 

The THFC loans are at a fixed rate of 8.75% but the net effect of amortising the premium received with 
these loans reduces the effective rate to 8%. The loans are repayable by bullet instalments in the year 
2021.

The AHF loan is at a fixed rate of 2.89% but the net effect of amortising the premium received with these 
loans reduces the effective rate to 1.99%. The loans are repayable by bullet instalments in the year 2043.

The Group has a £0.25m unsecured overdraft facility, which is repayable on demand. Interest is charged at 
2% over the banks base rate.
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28. Debt analysis (continued)

Financial Instruments 

The Group and Association had the following financial instruments:

       Group         Association

2018 
Restated

£’000

2017 
Restated

£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Financial assets that are debt Instruments measured 
at amortised cost:

Cash at bank and in hand 33,935 16,206 29,366 14,877

Investments 5,000 40,689 997 40,689

HomeBuy Loans 276 291 276 291

Rental and service charge debtors 4,457 4,295 4,163 4,069

Other debtors 3,422 3,579 2,006 2,329

Social housing grant receivable 1,930 311 1,930 311

Accrued income 1,100 656 225 271

Amounts owed from subsidiary undertakings - - 22,333 19,744

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Bank loans (279,211) (278,057) (252,598) (270,080)

Trade creditors (3,807) (4,861) (3,212) (3,805)

Recycled Capital Grant Fund (2,894) (1,719) (1,952) (1,719)

Deferred Capital Grant Fund (310,977) (272,176) (310,977) (272,176)

Disposal proceeds fund (1,838) (2,195) (1,838) (2,195)

HomeBuy Grants (276) (291) (276) (291)

SHPS Pension Deficit (6,078) (6,079) (5,242) (6,079)

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - (442) (2,783)

Other Creditors and Accruals (3,323) (3,335) (3,218) (3,175)
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29. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group 2018 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2017  
Restated  

£’000

Dilapidations Re-organisation 
Costs

Total Total

At 1 April - 114 114 96

Acquisition 125 20 145 -

Amounts utilised in 
the year

-  (134) (134) (96)

Amounts provided 
for during the year

- 2,320 2,320 114

At 31 March 125 2,320 2,445  114

Association 2018 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2017  
Restated  

£’000

Dilapidations Re-organisation 
Costs

Total Total

At 1 April - 114 114 96

Amounts utilised in 
the year

- (114) (114) (96)

Amounts provided 
for during the year

- 2,320 2,320 114

At 31 March - 2,320 2,320  114

The Group re-organisation, which commenced in the last financial year, is expected to be finalised in 
December 2018, the £2,320k represents the amount payable to staff for loss of office.

The provision for dilapidations relates to properties rented by York Housing Association Limited whereby 
there is strategy to vacate a property which could result  in a payment for dilapidations to the landlord. 
The provision is expected to be utilised within 1 to 2 years.

30. Share capital

The amalgamation and formation of Karbon Homes Limited took effect on 3 April 2017. The inaugural Board 
members were appointed with effect from 3 April 2017 and were selected from the legacy organisations of 
Isos Housing, Cestria Community Housing Association and Derwentside Homes. 

The Association is limited by guarantee and therefore has no share capital. Each member (see numbers 
below) agrees to contribute £1 in the event of the Association winding up.

2018 
£

Number of members

At 1 April 11

Joining during the year 1

Leaving during the year (1)

At 31 March 11
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31. Acquisitions

On 1 December 2017 York Housing Association Limited became a subsidiary of the Karbon Homes Group. 
No Consideration was paid by the Group for the fair value of assets and liabilities of £35,370,000 as detailed 
below.

In accounting terms, the Board considers this transaction as an acquisition, hence acquisition accounting has 
been followed and FRS102 has been applied such that the identifiable assets and liabilities are included in 
the balance sheet at the fair value at the date of acquisition. The results and cash flow have been brought 
into the accounts from the date of the transfer.

The difference between the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and the purchase consideration 
is considered negative goodwill. This is deemed to be a non-exchange transaction, under SORP 2014 
definition, since it is (due to the nil consideration paid) in substance a gift of one business to another. 
Therefore, under the requirements of the SORP 2014 the negative goodwill arising on the fair value of the 
gifted assets and liabilities has been recognised as a gain in the income and expenditure account in the year 
of transaction.

An external EUV-SH valuation provided by Jones Lang LaSalle has been used to establish the fair value of 
the York housing stock that transferred on 1 December 2017.

The valuation has been made in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards 2016.

The assets and liabilities of York Housing Association as at 1 December are:

Book Value
£’000

Fair Value 
Adjustments

£’000

Fair Value to 
the Goup

£’000

Fixed Assets

Housing Properties 43,474 (8,104) 35,370

Other Fixed Assets 1,055 - 1,055

Current Assets

Debtors 4,655 - 4,655

Cash at bank and in hand 1,718 - 1,718

Liabilities

Creditors < 1 year (1,923) - (1,923)

Creditors > 1 year (39,037) - (39,037)

Provision of liabilities (145) - (145)

Net Assets Acquired 9,797 (8,104) 1,693

The pre-acquisition results of York Housing Association Limited for the period 1 April 2017 to 30 November 
2017 and post-acquisition results for the period 1 December 2017 to 31 March 2018 are shown below. The 
Group’s surplus includes the £0.395 million post acquisition surplus.
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31. Acquisitions (continued)

Summary Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

December 
2017

 to 31 
March 

2018
£’000

April 2017  
to 

November 
2017
£’000

2016/17
£’000

Turnover 3,213 4,329 7,189

Cost of Sales (846) (191) (310)

Operating Costs (1,863) (3,048) (5,076)

Surplus on sale of housing property 146 198 111

Operating Surplus 650 1,288 1,914

Net interest payable (255) (543) (782)

Surplus for the financial year before taxation 395 745 1,132

32. Reserves

Group Revenue 
Reserves 

£’000

Total 
Reserves 

£’000

At 1 April 2017  226,122  226,122 

Surplus for the year 22,568 22,568 

Actuarial (loss) relating to pension scheme  (1,770)  (1,770)

Remeasurement gain/(loss) recognised on defined benefit pension schemes  -  - 

At 31 March 2018 246,920 246,920

At 31 March 2018, the revenue reserve included £22.49 million defined benefit pension liability (2017: £18.87 
million).

Association Revenue 
Reserves 

£’000

Total 
Reserves 

£’000

At 1 April 2017  194,565  194,565 

Gift Aid  910  910 

Surplus for the year 18,706 18,706

Actuarial (loss) relating to pension scheme  (1,770)  (1,770)

Remeasurement gain/(loss) recognised on defined benefit pension schemes  -  - 

At 31 March 2018 212,411 212,411
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33. Financial commitments

Capital expenditure commitments were as follows:          Group         Association

2018 
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

2018 
£ ’000

2017 
Restated 

£ ’000

Capital expenditure

Expenditure contracted for but not provided in the 
accounts

81,133 28,644 73,828 28,096

Expenditure authorised by the Board, but not 
contracted

28,949 68,740 11,695 60,856

110,082 97,384 85,523 88,952

The above commitments will be financed primarily through existing cash balances or borrowings, which are 
available for draw-down under existing loan arrangements, with the balance funded through Social Housing 
Grant.

Operating leases payable

The future minimum lease payments which the Group is committed to make under operating leases are as 
follows:

         Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Land and Buildings:

Within one year 502 461 375 461

Two to five years 1,684 1,544 1,240 1,544

Five years or more 171 567 171 567

2,357 2,572 1,786 2,572

Vehicles and office equipment:

Within one year 699 837 699 837

Two to five years 1,221 2,214 1,221 2,214

Five years or more 527 37 527 37

2,447 3,088 2,447 3,088

The leases for land and buildings are standard leases and the vehicle leases contain no purchase options.
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33.  Financial commitments (continued)

Operating leases receivable

The future minimum lease receivables which the Group is expecting to receive under operating leases are as 
follows:

         Group         Association

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Land and Buildings:

Within one year 59 75 946 751

Two to five years 210 134 1,560 1,216

Five years or more 189 126 189 126

458 335 2,695 2,093

The lease for Ambassador House includes a five year break clause.

As at 31 March 2018, the Association leased 164 (2017: 135) homes to Prince Bishop Homes Limited. The 
contractual term of each lease is five years from commencement date. The total value of the leased assets 
was £16,483,800 (2017: £13,254,302).

34. Contingent liabilities

The Group had no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2018 (2017: £Nil).

35. Related parties

Two board members of York Housing Association who were also tenants. Their tenancies are on normal 
commercial terms and they are not able to use their positon to their advantage. During the year ended 31 
March 2018, they paid rent totalling £1,244 (2017: £9,987) and as at 31 March 2018 there are no arrears on 
their tenancies (2017: £nil).

The remuneration paid to key management personnel is disclosed in note 9. There were no other 
transactions with key management personnel.

Note 16 - Investment in subsidiaries - provides details of the relationship and transactions between Parent 
and registered and unregistered subsidiaries.
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